The Consecrated Way

Alonzo T. Jones

{Chapters 1-12}

# **Table of Contents**

Consecration	
Introduction	5
Chapter 1 - Such an High Priest	9
Chapter 2 - Christ as God	
Chapter 3 - Christ as Man	
Chapter 4 - He Took Part of the Same	
Chapter 5 - Made Under the Law	
Chapter 6 - Made of a Woman	
Chapter 7 - The Law of Heredity	
Chapter 8 - In All Things Like	
Chapter 9 - Further Qualifications of Our High Priest	
Chapter 10 - The Sum	
Chapter 11 - That I May Dwell Among Them	
Chapter 12 - Perfection	
Conclusion	55

# Consecration

The Present Truth :: January 26, 1893

CONSECRATION is simply the constant recognition of the fact that we are the Lord's and not our own. He who learns that this *is* a fact and lives in the constant living presence and recognition of it as the great fact, —he is consecrated, and this is consecration.

Nor is this a hard thing to do in itself. People make it hard for themselves, by thinking it to be something that it is not, and *trying* to accomplish it in a way that is not the Lord's way, and even then they miss it. And, in truth, going about it in another than the Lord's way, they cannot possibly do anything else than miss it.

Is it a fact, then, that we are the Lord's? —Of course it is; for it is written: "Ye are bought with a price" (1 Cor. 6:20). And the price is, "the precious blood of Christ, as of a lamb without blemish and without spot" (1 Peter 1:19). For He "gave *Himself* for *us*" (Titus 2:14).

This "price" was paid for every soul that is on earth, and for every one who ever was or ever shall be on earth; for "He died for all." Having died for all; having paid the wondrous price for all; having given Himself for all, it is certainly a fact that all are his. Therefore it is written: "*Ye are not your own;* for ye are bought with a price: therefore glorify God in your body, and in your spirit, *which are God's*" (1 Cor. 6:19, 20).

He not only gave Himself for us, but for all there is of us—yes, even for our sins. For again it is written that He "gave Himself for our sins" (Gal. 1:4). And He did it "that He might deliver us from this present evil world;" that He might "purify unto Himself a peculiar people, zealous of good works;" that He might present us "faultless before the presence of His glory with exceeding joy" (Jude 24); —in one word, "that He might bring us to God" (1 Peter 3:18).

He so loved us that He wants to save us. But He cannot save us in our sins. He will save us *from* our sins. And as our whole self is sin and sin only, in order to get *us*, in order to buy *us*, He had to buy our sins also. So in giving Himself for us, He gave Himself for our sins too. And as we are His, because He bought us with that great price, so also our sins are His, for He bought them with the same great price.

Then will you let Him have the sins which He has bought? or will you hold on to these yourself? Will you let Him have what is His own? Will you let Him do what He will with His own? And what will He do with these sins? O, He will forgive them! (1 John 1:9). He will make them as white as snow. (Isa. 1:18). He will put them away. (Heb. 9:26). He will cast them into the depths of the sea. (Micah 7:19). He will remove them from us as far as the east is from the west. (Ps.

103:12). He will cast them all behind His back. (Isa. 38:17). And when they are all cast behind His back, He and His own throne will stand between us and them, as the pledge that we are free from them; and the rainbow round about the throne will be the sign—the token—of the everlasting covenant that our sins and iniquities will be remembered no more. (Heb. 8:12).

Thus in giving Himself *for* our *sins*, He gave Himself *to us*. In giving Himself *for* us, He gave Himself *to* us. So when we let Him have our sins, we get Him instead. When we let Him have ourselves, we get Himself instead. Would you rather have Him than your sins? Then let Him have them. Make the blessed exchange to-day. Would you rather have His way than your way? Would you rather have His life than your life? Would you rather have His disposition than your disposition? Would you rather have His character than your character? Would you rather have *Him* than yourself? "To be sure I would," you say. Then, O! let Him have you now; make the blessed surrender, and exchange now and forevermore.

This is consecration. And thus it is a daily, an hourly, a constant recognition, in gratitude and thankfulness, that we are His own. So each day, "consecrate yourself to God in the morning. Make this your very first work. Let your prayer be, 'Take me, O Lord, as wholly Thine. I lay all my plans at Thy feet. Use me to-day in Thy service. Abide with me, and let all my work be wrought in thee.' This is a daily matter. Each morning consecrate yourself to God for that day. Surrender all your plans to Him, to be carried out or given up as His providence shall indicate." Say, "I am the purchased possession of Jesus Christ, and every hour I must consecrate myself to His service." "Thus day by day you may be giving your life into the hands of God, and thus your life will be moulded more and more after the life of Christ." This is consecration. And it is not a burden, but a living, everlasting joy.

Therefore, "reckon ye also yourselves to be dead indeed unto sin, but alive unto God through Jesus Christ our Lord. . . . Yield yourselves unto God, as those that are alive from the dead, and your members as instruments of righteousness unto God. For sin shall not have dominion over you." "Sin shall not have dominion over you,"—is that promise worth anything to you? It is worth all that God is worth to the one who reckons himself to be dead indeed unto sin, and alive unto God through Jesus Christ; and who yields himself unto God, and his members unto God as instruments for God to use. To this one God has declared, "Sin shall not have dominion over you." Thank the Lord for this blessed promise of freedom from sin and all the power of sin. And this promise he will make a *fact* in the life and experience of every one who reckons thus and yields to God. You furnish the reckoning, He will furnish the fact. You yield to Him, and He will use you. You yield to Him your members, and He will use them only as instruments of righteousness. And so, "sin shall not have dominion over you," for God is stronger than sin.

# Introduction

In the manifestation of Christ the Saviour it is revealed that He must appear in the three offices of prophet, priest, and king.

Of Him as prophet it was written in the days of Moses: "I will raise them up a Prophet from among their brethren, like unto thee, and will put My words in His mouth; and He shall speak unto them all that I shall command Him. And it shall come to pass, that whosoever will not hearken unto My words which He shall speak in My name, I will require it of him." Deuteronomy 18:18, 19. And this thought was continued in the succeeding scriptures until His coming.

Of Him as priest it was written in the days of David: "The Lord hasth sworn, and will not repent, Thou art a priest forever after the order of Melchizedek." Psalm 110:4. This thought was also continued in the Scriptures, not oly until His coming, but after His coming.

Of Him as king it was written in the days of David: "Yet have I set ['anointed,' margin] My King upon My holy hill of Zion." Psalm 2:6. And this thought, likewise, was continued in all the scriptures afterward unto His coming, after His coming, and unto the end of the Book.

Thus the Scriptures abundantly present Him in the three offices of prophet, priest, and king.

This threefold truth is generally recognized by all who have acquaintance with the Scriptures; but above this there is the truth which seems to be *not* so well known—that He is *not all three of these at the same time*. The three offices are successive. He is prophet first, then after that He is priest, and after that He is king.

He was "that Prophet" when He came into the world, as that "Teacher come from God," the Word made flesh and dwelling among us, "full of grace and truth." Acts 3:19-23. But He was not then a priest, nor would He be a priest if He were even yet on earth; for it is written, "If He were on earth, He should not be a priest." Hebrews 8:4. But, having finished His work in His prophetic office on earth, and having ascended to heaven at the right hand of the throne of God, He is now and there our "great High Priest," who "ever liveth to make intercession for us," as it is written: "He shall be a priest upon His [Father's] throne: and the counsel of peace shall be between them both." Zechariah 6:12, 13.

As He was not *that Priest* when He was on earth as *that Prophet;* so *now* He is not *that King* when He is in heaven as *that Priest*. True, He is king in the sense and in the fact that He is upon His Father's throne; and thus He is the kingly priest and the priestly king after the order of Melchizedek, who, though priest of

the Most High God, was also King of Salem, which is King of peace. Hebrews 7:1, 2. But this is not the kingly office and throne that is referred to, and that is contemplated in the prophecy and the promise of His specific office as king.

The kingly office of the promise and the prophecy is that He shall be King upon "the throne of His father David," in perpetuation of the kingdom of God upon this earth. This kingly office is the restoration and the perpetuation, in Him, of the diadem, the crown, and the throne of David, which was discontinued when, because of the profanity and wickedness of the king and the people of Judah and Israel, they were taken captive to Babylon, when it was declared: "And thou, profane wicked prince of Israel, whose day is come, when iniquity shall have an end, Thus saith the Lord God; Remove the diadem, and take off the crown: this shall not be the same: exalt him that is low, and abase him that is high. I will overturn, overturn, overturn, it: and it shall be no more, until He come whose right it is; and I will give it Him." Ezekiel 21:25-27

Thus and at that time the throne, the diadem, and the crown of the kingdom of David was discontinued "until He come whose right it is," when it will be given Him. And He whose right it is, is only Christ, "the Son of David." And this "coming" was not His first coming when He came in His humiliation, a man of sorrows and acquainted with grief; but it is His second coming, when He comes in His glory as "King of kings and Lord of lords," when His kingdom shall break in pieces and consume all the kingdoms of earth and shall occupy the whole earth, and shall stand forever.

It is true that when He was born into the world, a babe in Bethlehem, He was born King, and was then and has been ever since King by right. But it is equally true that this kingly office, diadem, crown, and throne of the prophecy and promise, He did not then take, and has not yet taken, and will not take *until He comes again. Then* it will be that He will take to Himself His great power upon this earth, and will reign fully and truly in all the splendor of His kingly office and glory. For in the Scripture it is portrayed that *after* "the judgment was set, and the books were opened," one like the Son of man came to the Ancient of days, "and there was given Him dominion and glory, and a kingdom, that all people, nations, and languages, should serve Him: His dominion is an everlasting dominion, which shall not pass away, and His kingdom that which shall not be destroyed." Daniel 7:13, 14. *Then it is* that He shall indeed take "the throne of His father David: and He shall reign over the house of Jacob forever; and of His kingdom there shall be no end." Luke 1:32, 33

Thus it is plain that in the contemplation of the scripture, in the contemplation of the promise and the prophecy, as to His three offices of prophet, priest, and king, these offices are successive, and not all, nor even any two of them, at the same time. He came *first* as "that *Prophet;*" He is *now* that *Priest*, and *will be* that *King* when He comes again. He finished His work as "that Prophet" before He

became *that Priest;* and He finishes His work as *that Priest* before He will become *that King*.

And as He was, and as He is, and as He is to be, so our consideration of Him must be.

That is to say: When He was in the world as *that Prophet*, that is what the people were then to consider Him; and, as concerning that time, that is what we are now to consider Him. But they at that time could not consider Him as *that Priest*, nor, as concerning Him in that time, can we consider Him as *that Priest;* for when He was on earth, He was not a priest.

But when that time was past, He became Priest. He is now Priest. He is now just as truly Priest as, when He was on earth, He was *that Prophet*. And in His office and work of priest we are now to consider Him just as truly, just as thoroughly, and just as constantly that Priest, as when He was on earth, they and we must consider Him as that Prophet.

And when He comes again in His glory and in the majesty of His kingdom, and upon the throne of His father David, then we shall consider Him as *that King*, which He will then indeed be. But not until then can we truly consider Him in His kingly office, as He in that kingship and kingly office will be.

In His *kingly office* we can now truly contemplate Him as only that which He is yet to be. In His *prophetic office* we can now contemplate Him only as that which He has been. But in His *priesthood* we must now consider Him as that which He now is; for only that is what He now is. That is the office in which alone He is now manifested; and that is the office in which alone we can now actually consider Him in His own person and procedure.

Not only are His three offices of prophet, priest, and king successive, but they are successive for a purpose. And they are successive for a purpose in the exact order of the succession as given—prophet, priest, and king. His office as prophet was preparatory and essential to His office as priest; and His offices of prophet and priest, in order, are preparatory to His office as king.

And to us the consideration of Him in these offices in their order is essential.

We must consider Him in His office as prophet, not only in order that we may be taught by Him who spake as never man spake, but also that we shall be able properly to consider Him in His office as priest.

And we must consider Him in His office as priest, not only that we may have the infinite benefit of His priesthood, but also that we shall be prepared for what we are to be. For it is written: "They shall be priests of God and of Christ, and shall reign with Him a thousand years." Revelation 20:6 And having considered Him in His office of prophet as preparatory to our properly considering Him in His office as priest, it is essential that we consider Him in His office as priest in order that we shall be able to consider Him in His office as king; that is, in order that we shall be with Him there, and reign with Him there. For even of us it is written: "The saints of the Most High shall take the kingdom, and possess the kingdom forever, even forever and ever," and "they shall reign forever and ever." Daniel 7:18; Revelation 22:5

His priesthood being the present office and work of Christ, this having been His office and work ever since His ascension to heaven, Christ in His priesthood is the all-important study for all Christians, as well as for all other people.

### **Chapter 1 - Such an High Priest**

"Now of the things which we have spoken this is the sum: We have such an High Priest, who is set on the right hand of the throne of the Majesty in the heavens; a minister of the sanctuary, and of the true tabernacle, which the Lord pitched, and not man."

This is the summing up of the evidence of the high priesthood of Christ presented in the first seven chapters of Hebrews. The "sum" thus presented is not particularly that we have an High Priest, but that "we have *such* an High Priest." "Such" signifies "of that kind; of a like kind or degree,"—"the same as previously mentioned or specified; not another or different."

That is to say: In the preceding part (the first seven chapters of the Epistle to the Hebrews) there have been specified certain things concerning Christ as High Priest, certain qualifications by which He became High Priest, or certain things which are becoming to Him as an High Priest, which are summed up in this text: "Now of the things which we have spoken this is the sum: We have *such* an High Priest."

It is necessary, therefore, to an understanding of this scripture that the previous portion of this epistle shall be reviewed to see what is the true weight and import of this word, "*such* an High Priest." The whole of the seventh chapter is devoted to the discussion of this priesthood. The sixth chapter closes with the thought of this priesthood. The fifth chapter is almost wholly devoted to the same thought. The fourth chapter closes with it; and the fourth chapter is but a continuation of the third chapter, which begins with an exhortation to "consider the Apostle and High Priest of our profession, Christ Jesus;" and this as the conclusion from what had already been presented. The second chapter closes with the thought of His being "a merciful and faithful High Priest;" and this also as the conclusion from what has preceded in the first and second chapters; for though they are two chapters, the *subject* is but one.

This sketch shows plainly that in the first seven chapters of Hebrews the one great thought over all is the priesthood of Christ; and that the truths presented, whatever the thought or the form may be, are all simply the presentation in different ways of the great truth of this priesthood; all of which is finally summed up in the words: "We have such an High Priest."

Therefore, in discovering the true weight and import of this expression, "*such an High Priest*," it is necessary to begin with the very first words of the book of Hebrews, and follow the thought straight through to the summing up, bearing constantly in mind that the one transcendent thought in all that is presented is, "*such an High Priest;*" and that in all that is said, the one great purpose is to show

to mankind that we have "*such* an High Priest." However rich and full may be the truths in themselves, concerning Christ, which are contained in the successive statements, it must be constantly borne in mind that these truths, —however rich, however full, —are all expressed with the one great aim of showing that we have "*such* an High Priest." And in studying these truths as they are presented in the epistle, they must be held as subordinate and tributary to the great truth over all that is the "*sum*,"—"we have *such* an High Priest."

In the second chapter of Hebrews, as the conclusion of the argument there presented, it is written: "Wherefore in all things it behooved Him to be made like unto His brethren, that He might be a merciful and faithful *High Priest* in things pertaining to God." In this it is declared that Christ's condescension, His likeness to mankind, His being made flesh and dwelling amongst men, was necessary to His becoming "a merciful and faithful High Priest." But in order to know the measure of His condescension and what is the real meaning of His place in the flesh as the Son of man and man, it is necessary to know what was first the measure of His exaltation as the Son of God and God: and this is the subject of the first chapter.

The condescension of Christ, the position of Christ, and the nature of Christ as He was in the flesh in the world, are given in the second chapter of Hebrews more fully than in any other one place in the Scriptures. But this is in the *second* chapter. The first chapter precedes it. Therefore the truth and the thought presented in the first chapter are essentially precedent to the second chapter. The first chapter must be fully understood in order to be able to follow the thought and understand the truth in the second chapter.

In the first chapter of Hebrews, the exaltation, the position, and the nature of Christ as He was in heaven before He came to the world are more fully given than in any other single portion of the Scriptures. Therefore it is certain that an understanding of the position and nature of Christ as He was in heaven is essential to a proper understanding of His position and nature as He was on earth. And since it behooved Him to be what He was on earth, in order that He might be a merciful and faithful High Priest, it is essential to know what He was in heaven; for this is essential precedent to what He was on earth, and is therefore an essential part of the evidence that is summed up in the expression, "We have *such* an High Priest."

# Chapter 2 - Christ as God

WHAT, then, is the thought concerning Christ in the first chapter of Hebrews?

First of all there is introduced "God"—God the Father—as the speaker to men, who "in time past spake unto the fathers by the prophets;" and who "hath in these last days spoken unto us by His Son."

Thus is introduced Christ the Son of God. Then of Him and the Father it is written: "Whom He [the Father] hath appointed heir of all things, by whom also He [the Father] made the worlds." Thus, as preliminary to His introduction and our consideration of Him as High Priest, Christ the Son of God is introduced as being with God as Creator and as being the active, vivifying Word in the creation—"by whom also He [God] made the worlds."

Next, of the Son of God Himself, we read: "Who being the brightness of His [God's] glory, and the express image of His [God's] person ["the very impress of His substance," margin R.V.], and upholding all things by the word of His power, when He had by Himself purged our sins, sat down on the right hand of the Majesty on high."

This tells us that, in heaven, the nature of Christ was the nature of God; that He, in His person, in His substance, is the very impress, the very character, of the substance of God. That is to say that, in heaven, as He was before He came to the world, the nature of Christ was in very substance the nature of God.

Therefore it is further written of Him that He was "made so much better than the angels, as He hath by inheritance obtained a more excellent name than they." This more excellent name is the name "God," which, in the eighth verse, is given by the Father to the Son: "Unto the Son He [God] saith, Thy throne, *O God*, is forever and ever."

Thus, He is "so much" better than the angels as God is better than the angels. And it is because of this that He has that more excellent name, —the name expressing only what He *is*, in His very nature.

And this name "He hath by inheritance." It is not a name that was bestowed, but a name that is inherited.

Now it lies in the nature of things, as an everlasting truth, that the only name any person can possibly inherit is his father's name. This name, then, of Christ's, which is more excellent than that of the angels, is the name of His Father: and His Father's name is *God*. The Son's name, therefore, which He has by inheritance, is *God*. And this name, which is more excellent than that of the angels, is His because he is "so much better than the angels." That name being God, He is "so much better than the angels" as God is better than the angels.

Next, His position and nature, as better than that of the angels, is dwelt upon: "For unto which of the angels said He [the Father] at any time, Thou art My Son, this day have I begotten thee? And again, I will be to Him a Father, and He shall be to Me a Son?" This holds the thought of the more excellent name spoken of in the previous verse. For He, being the Son of God, —God being His Father, thus hath "by inheritance" the name of His Father, which is God; and which is so much more excellent than the name of the angels, as God is better than they.

This is dwelt upon yet further: "And again, when He bringeth in the first begotten into the world, He saith, and let all the angels of God worship Him." Thus He is so much better than the angels that He is worshiped by the angels: and this according to the will of God, because He is, in His nature, God.

This thought of the mighty contrast between Christ and the angels is dwelt upon yet further: "Of the angels He saith, Who maketh His angels spirits, and His ministers a flame of fire. But unto the Son He saith, Thy throne, *O God*, is forever and ever ["from eternity to eternity," German translation]."

And again, "A scepter of righteousness is the scepter of Thy kingdom. Thou hast loved righteousness, and hated iniquity; therefore God, *even Thy* God, hath anointed Thee with the oil of gladness above Thy fellows."

And yet again, the Father, in speaking to the Son, says: "Thou, Lord, in the beginning hast laid the foundation of the earth; and the heavens are the works of Thine hands: they shall perish; but Thou remainest; and they all shall wax old as doth a garment; and as a vesture shalt Thou fold them up, and they shall be changed: but Thou are the same, and Thy years shall not fail."

Note the contrasts here, and in them read the nature of Christ. The *heavens* shall *perish*, but *He remains*. The *heavens* shall *wax old*, but *His years* shall *not fail*. The *heavens* shall be *changed*, but *He* is the *same*. This shows that He is God: of the nature of God.

Yet more of this contrast between Christ and the angels: "To which of the angels said He at any time, Sit on My right hand, until I make thine enemies thy footstool? Are they not all ministering spirits, sent forth to minister for them who shall be heirs of salvation?"

Thus, in the first chapter of Hebrews, Christ is revealed higher than the angels, as God; and as *much* higher than the angels as is God, because He is God.

In the first chapter of Hebrews Christ is revealed as God, of the *name* of God, because He is of the *nature* of God. And so entirely is His nature of the nature of God, that it is the very impress of *the substance* of God.

This is Christ the Saviour, Spirit of Spirit, substance of substance, of God.

And this it is essential to know in the first chapter of Hebrews, in order to know what is His nature revealed in the second chapter of Hebrews *as man*.

#### Chapter 3 - Christ as Man

Christ's likeness *to God*, as set forth in the first chapter of Hebrews, is only introductory to the setting forth of His likeness *to men*, as in the second chapter of Hebrews.

His likeness *to God*, as in the first chapter of Hebrews, is the only basis of true understanding of His likeness *to men*, as in the second chapter of Hebrews.

And this likeness *to God*, as given in the first chapter of Hebrews, is likeness, —not in the sense of a mere picture or representation; but is *like*ness in the sense of being actually *like* in very nature, —the very "impress of His substance," Spirit of Spirit, substance of substance, of God.

And this is given as the preliminary to our understanding of His likeness to *men*. That is to say: from this we are to understand that His likeness to men is not merely in shape, in picture, or representation, but in *nature*, in *very substance*. Otherwise, the whole first chapter of Hebrews, with all its detail of information, is, in that connection, meaningless and misplaced.

What, then, *is* this truth of Christ made in the *like*ness of men, as given in the second chapter of Hebrews?

Bearing in mind the great thought of the first chapter, and the first four verses of the second chapter, - of Christ in contrast with the angels, *higher* than the angels, *as God*, - we begin with the fifth verse of the second chapter, where begins the thought of Christ in contrast with the angels, - lower than the angels, *as man*.

So we read: "For unto the angels hath He not put in subjection the world to come, whereof we speak. But one in a certain place testified, saying, What is man, that Thou art mindful of him? or the son of man, that Thou visitest him? Thou madest him a little lower than the angels; Thou crownedst him with glory and honor, and didst set him over the works of Thy hands: Thou hast put all things in subject under his feet. For in that He put all in subject under Him, He left nothing that is not put under Him. But now we see not yet all things put under Him. But we see Jesus." Hebrews 2:5-9

That is to say: God has not put in subjection to the angels the world to come: but He *has* put it in subjection to *man:* yet *not* the man to whom it *was originally* put in subjection; for, though it *was* so, yet *now* we see it not so. The man lost his dominion, and, instead of having all things in subjection under his feet, he himself is now in subjection to death. And he is in subjection to death only because he is in subjection to sin; for "by one man sin entered into the world, and death by sin; and so death passed upon all men, for that all have sinned." Romans 5:12. He is in subjection to death because he is in subjection to sin; for death is only the wages of sin.

Nevertheless, it stands eternally true that *not* unto the *angels* hath He put in subjection the world to come, but unto *man*. And, *now*, JESUS CHRIST is THE MAN.

For, though this dominion having been put in subjection to man, and though now we see it not so; though man was given the dominion over all, and now we see that dominion lost to that particular man; yet we *do* "see *Jesus*," *as man*, come to regain that original dominion. We *do* "see Jesus" as *man*, come to have all things *put in subjection under Him*.

That man was the first Adam: this other Man is the last Adam. That first Adam was made a little lower than the angels: this last Adam, Jesus, also we see "made a little lower than the angels."

That first man did not remain in the position where he was *made*, "lower than the angels." He lost that, and went *still* lower, and became subject to sin; and, in that, subject to suffering, even to the suffering of death.

And the last Adam we see in *the same place*, in the *same condition:* "We see Jesus, who was *made a little lower than the angels* for the *suffering of death.*" And again: "Both He that sanctifies and they who are sanctified are *all* OF ONE."

He which sanctifies is Jesus. They who are sanctified are men of all nations, kindred's, tongues, and peoples. And *one* man sanctified, out of any nation, any kindred, any tongue, or any people, is divine demonstration that *every* soul of that nation, kindred, tongue, or people might have been sanctified. And Jesus, having become one of these, that He might bring them to glory, is proof that He is one of mankind altogether; that He, as man, and all men themselves, are "all of *one:* for which cause He is not ashamed to call them brethren."

Therefore, as *in heaven* He was higher than the angels, *as God;* so, on earth, He was lower than the angels, *as man.* As when He was higher than the angels, *as God*, He and God were *of one;* so when He was on the earth, lower than the angels, *as man*, He and man are "*of one.*" So that, just as certainly as, on *the side of God*, Jesus and God are *of one*—of one Spirit, of one nature, of one substance; so, *on the side of man*, Christ and man are "*of one*"—of one flesh, of one nature, of one substance.

The likeness of Christ *to God* is in *substance* as well as in form. And the likeness of Christ *to man* is in *substance* as well as in form. Otherwise, there is no meaning in the first chapter of Hebrews as introductory to the second chapter; no meaning in the antitheses between the first and second chapters; and the first chapter is out of place, and empty, as a basis of introduction to the second

chapter.

#### Chapter 4 - He Took Part of the Same

THE first chapter of Hebrews reveals that Christ's likeness to God is not simply in *form* or *representation*, but also in *very substance;* and the second chapter as clearly reveals that His *likeness* to men is not simply in form or in representation, but also in *very substance*. It is *likeness* to men *as they are* in *all things*, exactly *as they are*. Wherefore, it is written: "In the beginning was the Word, and the Word was with God, and the Word was God. . . . And *the Word* was *made flesh*, and dwelt among us." John 1:1-14

And that this is *likeness* to man as he is in his fallen, sinful nature, and not as he was in his original, sinless nature, is made certain by the word: "We see Jesus, who was made a little lower than the angels *for* the *suffering* of *death*." Therefore, as man is *since he became subject to death*, *this* is what *we see Jesus* to be, in His place *as man*.

Therefore, just as certainly as we see Jesus lower than the angels, unto the suffering of death, so certainly it is by this demonstrated that, *as man*, Jesus took the nature of man *as he is since death entered;* and not the nature of man *as he was before* he became subject to *death*.

But death entered only because of sin: had not sin entered, death never could have entered. And we see Jesus made lower than the angels *for* the *suffering* of *death*. Therefore we see Jesus made in the nature of man, *as man is since* man sinned; and not as man was before sin entered. For this He did that He might "*taste death* for *every man*." In becoming man that he might reach man, He must come to man where man is. Man is subject to death. Therefore Jesus must become man, *as man is since he is subject to death*.

"For it became Him, for whom are all things, and by whom are all things, in bringing many sons unto glory, to make the captain of their salvation perfect through *sufferings*." Hebrews 2:10. Thus, in becoming man, it became Him to become such *as man is*. Man is subject to sufferings. Therefore it became Him to come to the man where he is—in his sufferings.

Before man sinned, he was not in any sense subject to sufferings. And for Jesus to have come in the nature of man as he was before sin entered, would have been only to come in a way and in a nature in which it would be impossible for Him to know the sufferings of man, and therefore impossible to reach him to save him. But since it became Him, in bringing men unto glory, to be made perfect through *sufferings;* it is certain that Jesus, in becoming man, partook of the nature of man as he is since he became subject to suffering, even the suffering of death, which is the wages of sin.

And so it is written: "Forasmuch then as the children are partakers of flesh and blood, He also Himself likewise took part of *the same*." Verse 14. He, in His human nature, took the same flesh and blood that men have. All the words that could be used to make this plain and positive are here put together in a single sentence.

The children of men are partakers of flesh and blood; and because of this, *He* took part of the same.

But this is not all: He *also* took part of the same flesh and blood as that of which the children are partakers.

Nor is this all: He also *Himself* took part of the same flesh and blood as that of which the children of men are partakers.

Nor yet is this all: He also Himself *likewise* took part of the same flesh and blood as that of which men are partakers.

Thus the Spirit of inspiration so much desires that this truth shall be made so plain and emphatic as to be understood by all, that He is not content to use any fewer than all the words that could be used in the telling of it. And, therefore, it is declared that just as, and just as certainly as, "the children are partakers of flesh and blood, *He also Himself likewise* took part of *the same*" flesh and blood.

And this He did in order "that through death He might . . . deliver them who through fear of death were all their lifetime subject to bondage." He took part of the same flesh and blood as we have in the bondage of sin and the fear of death, in order that He might deliver us from the bondage of sin and the fear of death.

And so, "Both He that sanctifieth and they who are sanctified are all *of one:* for which cause he is not ashamed to call them *brethren*."

This great truth of the blood relationship, this blood brotherhood, of Christ with men, is taught in the gospel *in Genesis*. For when God made His everlasting covenant with Abraham, the sacrifices were cut in two and He, with Abraham, passed between the pieces. Genesis 15:8-18; Jeremiah 34:18, 19; Hebrews 7:5, 9. By this act the Lord entered into "the most solemn covenant known to the Oriental" or to mankind, —the blood covenant, —and thus became blood-brother to Abraham, "a relation which outranks every other relation in life."

This great truth of Christ's blood relationship to man is further taught in the gospel in Leviticus. In the gospel *in Leviticus* there is written the law of redemption of men and their inheritances. When any one of the children of Israel had lost his inheritance or himself had been brought into bondage, there was redemption provided. If he was able of himself to redeem himself or his inheritance, he could do it. But if he was not able of himself to redeem, then the

right of redemption fell to his nearest of kin in blood relationship. It fell not merely to *one* who was near of kin among his brethren; but to *the* one who was *nearest* of kin, who was able. Leviticus 25:24-28; 47-49; Ruth 2:20; 3:9, 12, 13; 4:1-14, with the marginal readings.

Thus in Genesis and Leviticus there has been taught through all these ages the very truth which we find here taught in the second chapter of Hebrews—the truth that man has lost his inheritance and is himself also in bondage. And as he himself cannot redeem himself nor his inheritance, the right of redemption falls to the nearest of kin who is able. And *Jesus Christ* is the only one in all the universe who is able.

But to be the Redeemer He must be not only able, He must be a blood-relative. And He must also be not only *near* of kin, but the *nearest* of kin; and the nearest of kin by blood relationship. Therefore, "as the children" of man—as the children of the one who lost our inheritance—"are partakers of *flesh and blood*, He also Himself likewise took part of the *same*"—took part of flesh and blood in very substance *like* ours, and so became our nearest of kin. And therefore it is written that He and we "are all *of one:* for which cause He is not ashamed to call us *brethren*."

But the Scripture does not stop even yet with the statement of this all-important truth. It says, further: "For verily He took not on Him the nature of angels; but He took on Him the seed of Abraham. Wherefore in *all things* it behooved Him to be made *like* unto His brethren," whose blood brother He became in the confirming of that everlasting covenant.

And this He did, in order that wherein "*He Himself* hath *suffered* being *tempted*, He *is able* to *succor* them that are *tempted*." For He was "*touched* with the *feeling* of our infirmities;" being "in *all points tempted like as we are*, yet without sin." Hebrews 4:15. Being *made* in His *human nature*, in all things *like* as *we are*, He could be, and He was, tempted in *all* points *like* as *we are*. The only way in which He could possibly be tempted "like as we are" was to become "*in all things*" "like as we are."

As in His human nature He is one of us, and as "Himself took our infirmities" (Matthew 8:17), He could be "touched with the *feeling* of our infirmities." Being in all things made *like* us, He, when tempted, felt just as we feel when we are tempted, and knows all about it: and so can help and save to the uttermost all who will receive Him. As in His flesh, and [as] Himself in the flesh, He was as weak as we are, and of Himself could "do nothing" (John 5:30); so when He bore "our griefs, and carried our sorrows" (Isaiah 53:4), and was tempted as we are, *feeling* as we *feel*, by His divine *faith* He conquered *all* by the *power of God which that faith brought Him*, and which *in our flesh* He has *brought to us*.

Therefore, His name is called Immanuel, which is "God with us." Not God with *Him* only, but God with *us*. God was with *Him* in eternity, and could have been with Him even though He had not given Himself for us. But man through sin became without God, and God wanted to be again with us. Therefore *Jesus* became "*us*," that God with *Him* might be "God with *us*." And that is His *name*, because that is what He *is*. Blessed be His *name*.

And this is "the faith of Jesus" and the power of it. This is our Saviour: one of God, and one of man; and therefore able to save to the uttermost every soul who will come to God by Him.

### Chapter 5 - Made Under the Law

"CHRIST Jesus, . . . being in the form of God, . . . emptied Himself, and took upon Him the form of a servant, and was made in the *likeness of men*." Philippians 2:5-7, R.V. He was made in the likeness of men, as men are, just where they are.

"The Word was made flesh." He "took part of *the same*" flesh and blood as that of which the children of men are partakers, as they are *since man has fallen into sin*. And so it is written: "When the fulness of the time was come, God sent forth His Son, made . . . *under the law*."

To be under the law is to be guilty, condemned, and subject to the curse. For it is written: "We know that what things soever the law saith, it saith to them who are under the law: that . . . all the world may become *guilty* before God." This, because "all have sinned, and come short of the glory of God." Romans 3:19, 23; 6:14

And the guilt of sin brings the curse. In Zechariah 5:1-4, the prophet beheld a "flying roll; the length thereof . . . twenty cubits, and the breadth thereof ten cubits." The Lord said to him: "This is the curse that goeth forth over the face of the whole earth." And what is the cause of this curse over the face of the whole earth? This: "For every one that *stealeth* shall be cut off as on this side according to it; and every one that *sweareth* shall be cut off as on that side according to it."

That is, this roll is the law of God; one commandment being cited from each table, showing that both tables of the law are included in the roll. Every one that stealeth—every one that transgresseth the law in the things of the second table—shall be cut off as on *this side* of the law according to it; and every one that sweareth—every one that transgresseth in the things of the first table of the law—shall be cut off as on *that side* of the law according to it.

The heavenly recorders do not need to *write out* a statement of each particular sin of every man; but simply to indicate on the roll that pertains to man the particular commandment that is violated in each transgression. And that such a roll of the law does go with every man wherever he goes, and even abides in his house, is plain from the next words: "I will bring it forth, saith the Lord of hosts, and it shall enter into the house of the thief, and into the house of him that sweareth falsely by My name: and it shall remain in the midst of his house."

And unless a remedy shall be found, there that roll of the law will remain until the curse shall consume that man, and his house, "with the timber thereof and the stones thereof:" that is, until the curse shall devour the earth in that great day when the very elements shall melt with fervent heat. For "the strength of sin" and the curse "is the law." 1 Corinthians 15:56; Isaiah 24:5, 6; 2 Peter 3:10-12

But, thanks be to God, "God sent forth His son, made . . . *under the law, to redeem them that were under the law.*" Galatians 4:4, 5. By His coming He brought redemption to every soul who is *under the law*. But in order perfectly to bring that redemption to men under the law, He Himself must come to men, just where they are, and as they are, *under the law*.

And this He did; for He was "made under the law;" He was made "guilty;" He was made condemned by the law; He was "made" as guilty as any man *is* guilty who is under the law. He was "made" under condemnation as fully as any man is under condemnation because of his violation of the law. He was "made" under the curse as completely as any man in the world has ever been, or ever can be, under the curse. For it is written: "He that is hanged ["on a tree"] is accursed of God." Deuteronomy 21:23

The Hebrew makes this stronger still; for the literal translation is: "He that hangeth on a tree is *the curse of God*." And this is exactly the strength of the fact respecting Christ; for it is written that He was "made *a curse*." Thus, when He was made under the law, He was made all that it means to be under the law. He was made guilty; He was made condemned; He was made a curse.

But bear in mind forever that all this He "*was made*." He was *none of this of Himself*, of native fault; but all of it he "was *made*." And He was made it all *for us:* for us who are *under the law;* for us who are *under condemnation* because of transgression of the law: for us who are *under the curse* because of swearing, and lying, and killing, and stealing, and committing adultery, and all the other infractions of the roll of God's law that goeth with us and that remaineth in our house.

He was made under the law, to redeem them that are under the law. He was made a curse, to redeem them that are under the curse BECAUSE of being under the law.

But for whomsoever it was done, and whatsoever is accomplished by the doing of it, there must never be forgotten the *fact* that, in order to the doing of that which was done, He had to be "made" that which those *already were* for whom the thing was done.

Any man, therefore, in all the world, who knows guilt, by that very thing, knows also what Jesus felt for him; and by this knows how close Jesus has come to him. Whosoever knows what is condemnation, in that knows exactly what Jesus felt for him; and so knows how thoroughly Jesus is able to sympathize with him and to redeem him. Whosoever knows the curse of sin, "the plague of his own heart," in that can know exactly what Jesus experienced for him; and how entirely Jesus identified Himself, in very experience, with him.

Bearing guilt, being under condemnation, and so under the weight of the curse, Jesus, *a whole lifetime in this world of guilt, condemnation, and the curse*, lived the perfect life of the righteousness of God, *without ever sinning at all*. And whenever any man knowing guilt, condemnation, and the curse of sin; and knowing that Jesus actually felt in His experience all this *just as man feels it;* then, *in addition*, that man, *by believing in Jesus*, can know in *his* experience the blessedness of the perfect life of the righteousness of God, in *his* life, to redeem *him* from guilt, from condemnation, and from the curse; and to be manifested in *his* whole lifetime to keep *him* from ever sinning at all.

Christ was made under the law, to redeem them that were under the law. And that blessed work is accomplished for every soul who accepts of that redemption.

"Christ hath redeemed us from the curse of the law, being made a curse for us." His being made a curse is not in vain: it accomplishes all that was intended by it, in behalf of every man who will receive it. For it was all done "that the blessing of Abraham might come on the Gentiles through Jesus Christ; that we might receive the promise of the Spirit through faith." Galatians 3:14

Still, whatever was intended by it, and whatever is accomplished by it, there must always be borne in mind by every soul the FACT that, in His condescension, in His emptying Himself and being "made in the *likeness of men*," and "*made flesh*," He was made under the law, guilty, —under condemnation, under the curse, —as really and as entirely as is any soul that shall ever be redeemed.

And having passed through it all, He is the author of eternal salvation, and is able to save to the uttermost from deepest loss all who come unto God by Him.

#### Chapter 6 - Made of a Woman

BY what means was Christ made flesh? Through what means was He partaker of human nature? —Exactly the same means as are all of us partakers: all of the children of men. For it is written: "As the children [of the man] are partakers of flesh and blood, He also Himself likewise took part of the same."

Likewise signifies "in the like way," "thus," "in the same way." So He partook of "the same" flesh and blood that men have, in *the same way* that men partake of it. Men partake of it by birth. So "likewise" did He. Accordingly, it is written, "*Unto us* a Child *is born*."

Accordingly, it is further written: "God sent forth His Son, *made of a woman*." Galatians 4:4. He, being made of a woman in *this world*, in the nature of things He was made of the only *kind* of woman that this world knows.

But why must He be made of a woman? Why not of a man? —For the simple reason that to be made of a man would not bring Him close enough to mankind as mankind is, under sin. He was made of a woman in order that He might come, in *the very uttermost*, to where human nature is in its sinning.

In order to do this, He *must* be made of a woman; because *the woman*, not the man was *first*, and originally, *in the transgression*. For "Adam was not deceived, but the *woman* being deceived *was in the transgression*." 1 Timothy 2:14

To have been made only of the descent of man would have been to come short of the full breadth of the field of sin; because the *woman had sinned* and sin was thus *in the world*, *before the man sinned*.

Christ was thus made of a woman in order that He might meet the great world of sin at its very fountain head of entrance into this world. To have been made otherwise than of a woman would have been to come short of this, and so would have been only to miss completely the redemption of men from sin.

It was "the Seed of the woman" that was to bruise the serpent's head; and it was only as "the seed of the woman," and "made of a woman," that He could meet the serpent on his own ground, at the very point of the entrance of sin into this world.

It was the woman who, in this world, was originally in the transgression. It was the woman by whom sin originally entered. Therefore, in the redemption of the children of men from sin, He who would be the Redeemer must go *back of the man*, to meet the sin that was in the world *before* the *man* sinned.

This is why He, who came to redeem, was "made of a woman." By being made

of a woman, He could trace sin to the very fountain head of its original entry into the world by the woman. And thus, in finding sin in the world, and uprooting it from the world, from its original entrance into the world till the last vestige of it shall be swept from the world, in the very nature of things, He must partake of human nature as it is since sin entered.

Otherwise, there was no kind of need whatever that He *should* be "made of *a woman*." If He were not to come into closest contact with sin as it is in the world, as it is in human nature; if He were to be removed one single degree from it as it is in human nature, —then He need not have been "made of *a woman*."

But as He was made of a woman, —not of a man; as He was made of the one by whom sin entered in its very origin into the world, and not made of the man, who entered into the sin after the sin had entered into the world, —this demonstrates beyond all possibility of fair question that between Christ and sin in this world, and between Christ and human nature as it is under sin in the world, there is no kind of separation, even to the shadow of a single degree. He was made flesh; He was made to be sin. He was made flesh as flesh is, and only as flesh is in this world; and was made to be sin only as sin is.

And this must He do to redeem lost mankind. For Him to be separated a single degree, or a shadow of a single degree, in any sense, from the nature of those whom He came to redeem, would be only to miss everything.

Therefore, as He was made "under the law," *because they are under the law* whom He would redeem; and as He was made a curse, *because they are under the curse* whom He would redeem; and as He was made sin, *because they are sinners*, "sold under sin," whom He would redeem, — precisely so He must be made flesh, and "the *same*" flesh and blood, *because they are flesh* and blood whom He would redeem; and must be made "of a woman," *because* sin was in the world *first* by and in the woman.

If He were not of the same flesh as are those whom He came to redeem, then there is no sort of use of His being made flesh at all. More than this: Since the only flesh that there is in this wide world which He came to redeem, is just the poor, sinful, lost, human flesh that all mankind have; if this is not the flesh that He was made, then He never really came *to* the world which needs to be redeemed. For if He came in a human nature different from that which human nature in this world actually is, then, even though He were in the world, yet, for any practical purposes in reaching man and helping him, He was as far from him as if He had never come: for, in that case, in His human nature He was just as far from man and just as much of another world as if He had never come into this world at all.

It is thoroughly understood that in His birth Christ did partake of the nature of Mary—the "woman" of whom He was "made." But the carnal mind is not willing to

allow that God in His perfection of holiness could endure to come to men where they are in their sinfulness. Therefore endeavor has been made to escape the consequences of this glorious truth, which is the emptying of self, by inventing a theory that *the nature of the virgin Mary* was *different* from the nature of the rest of mankind; that her flesh was not exactly such flesh as is that of all mankind. This invention sets up that, by some special means, Mary was made different from the rest of human beings, especially in order that Christ might be *becomingly* born of her.

This invention has culminated in what is known as the Roman Catholic dogma of the Immaculate Conception. Many Protestants, if not the vast majority of them as well as other non-Catholics, think that the Immaculate Conception refers to the *conception of Jesus* by the virgin Mary. But this is altogether a mistake. It refers not at all to the conception of Christ by Mary; but to the conception of *Mary herself* by *her* mother.

The official and "infallible" doctrine of the Immaculate Conception, as solemnly defined as an article of faith, by Pope Pius IX, speaking *ex cathedra* on the 8th of December, 1854, is as follows: -

By the authority of our Lord Jesus Christ, of the blessed apostles Peter and Paul, and by our own authority, we declare, pronounce, and define, that the *doctrine which holds* that the most blessed Virgin Mary, in the *first instant of* HER conception, by a special grace and privilege of Almighty God, in view of the merits of Jesus Christ, the Saviour of mankind, was preserved free from all stain of original sin, has been revealed by God, and, therefore, is to be firmly and steadfastly believed by all the faithful.

Wherefore, if any shall presume, which may God avert, to think in their heart otherwise then has been defined by us, let them know, and moreover understand, that they are condemned by their own judgment, that they have made shipwreck as regards the faith, and have fallen away from the unity of the Church. —"*Catholic Belief*," *page 214*.

This conception is defined by Catholic writers thus: -

The ancient writing, "De Nativitate Christi," found in St. Cyprian's works, says: Because (Mary) being *"very different* from *the rest of mankind*, human nature, *but not sin*, communicated itself to her."

Theodore, patriarch of Jerusalem, said in the second council of Nice, that Mary "is truly the mother of God, and virgin before and after childbirth; and she *was created* in a *condition more sublime* and *glorious* than that *of all natures*, whether intellectual or corporeal." -Id., pages 216, 217.

This plainly puts the nature of Mary entirely beyond any real likeness or

relationship to mankind or human nature as it is. Having this clearly in mind, let us follow this invention in its next step. Thus it is, as given in the words of Cardinal Gibbons: -

We affirm that the Second Person of the Blessed Trinity, the Word of God, who in His divine nature is, from all eternity, begotten of the Father, consubstantial with Him, was in the fulness of time again begotten, by being born of the virgin, thus taking to himself from her maternal womb a human nature of *the same substance with hers*.

As far as the sublime mystery of the incarnation can be reflected in the natural order, the blessed Virgin, under the overshadowing of the Holy Ghost, by communicating to the Second Person of the adorable Trinity, as mothers do, a true human nature *of the same substance with her own* is thereby really and truly His mother. — *"Faith of Our Fathers," pages 198, 199.* 

Now put these two things together. First, we have the nature of Mary defined as being not only "very different from the rest of mankind," but "more sublime and glorious *than all natures:*" thus putting her infinitely beyond any real likeness or relationship to mankind as we really are.

Next, we have Jesus described as taking from her a human nature of the *same substance as hers*.

From this theory it therefore follows as certainly as that two and two make four, that in His human nature the Lord Jesus is "very different" from the rest of mankind: indeed, His nature is not human nature at all.

Such is the Roman Catholic doctrine concerning the human nature of Christ. The Catholic doctrine of the human nature of Christ is simply that that nature is not human nature at all, but divine: "more sublime and glorious than all natures." It is that in His human nature Christ was so far separated from mankind as to be utterly unlike that of mankind: that His was a nature in which He could have no sort of fellow-feeling with mankind.

But such is not the faith of Jesus. The faith of Jesus is that "as the children are partakers of flesh and blood, He also Himself likewise took part of *the same*."

The faith of Jesus is that God sent "His own Son in the likeness of sinful flesh."

The faith of Jesus is that "in *all things* it behooved Him to be *made like unto His brethren*."

The faith of Jesus is that He "Himself took our infirmities," and was touched "with the feeling of our infirmities," being tempted in *all* points *like as* we are. If He was not as we are, He could not possibly be tempted "like *as* we are." But He

was "in all points tempted like as we are." Therefore He was "in all points" "like as we are."

In the quotations of Catholic faith, which in this chapter we have cited, we have presented the faith of Rome as to the human nature of Christ and of Mary. In the second chapter of Hebrews and kindred texts of Scripture there is presented, and in these studies we have endeavored to reproduce as there presented, the faith of Jesus as to the human nature of Christ.

The faith of Rome as to the human nature of Christ and Mary, and of ourselves, springs from that idea of the natural mind that God is too pure and too holy to dwell with us and in us in our sinful human nature: that sinful as we are, we are too far off for Him in His purity and holiness to come to us just as we are.

The true faith—the faith of Jesus—is that, far off from God as we are in our sinfulness, in our human nature which He took, He *has come* to us just where we are; that, infinitely pure and holy as He is, and sinful, degraded, and lost, as we are, He in Christ by His Holy Spirit will willingly dwell with us and in us, to save us, to purify us, and to make us holy.

The faith of Rome is that we must be pure and holy in order that God shall dwell with us at all.

The faith of Jesus is that God must dwell with us, and in us, in order that we shall be holy or pure at all.

## **Chapter 7 - The Law of Heredity**

"THE Word was made flesh."

"When the fulness of the time was come, God sent forth His Son, made of a woman." Galatians 4:4

"And the Lord hath laid on Him the iniquity of us all." Isaiah 53:6

We have seen that, in His being made of a woman, Christ reached sin at the very fountain head of its entrance into this world; and that He must be made of a woman to do this. Also there was laid upon Him the iniquity, in the actual sins, of us all.

Thus all the sin of this world, from its origin in the world to the end of it in the world, was laid upon Him: both sin as it is in itself, and sin as it is when committed by us: sin in its *tendency*, and sin in the *act:* sin as it is hereditary in us, *uncommitted* by us; and sin as it is *committed* by us.

Only thus could it be that there should be laid upon Him the iniquity of *us all*. Only by His subjecting Himself to the law of heredity could He reach sin in full and true measure as sin truly is. Without this there could be laid upon Him our sins, which have been *actually committed*, with the guilt and condemnation that belongs to them. But, beyond this, there is in each person, in many ways, the *liability* to sin *inherited* from generations back, which has not yet culminated in the act of sinning, but which is ever ready, when occasion offers, to blaze forth in the actual committing of sins. David's great sin is an illustration of this. Psalm 51:5; 2 Samuel 11:2

In delivering us from sin, it is not enough that we shall be saved from the sins that we have actually committed: we must be saved from committing other sins. And that this may be so, there must be met and subdued this *hereditary liability* to sin; we must become possessed of power to keep us from sinning—a power to conquer this liability, this hereditary tendency that is in us, to sin.

All our sins, which we have actually committed, were laid upon Him, were imputed to Him, so that His righteousness may be laid upon us, may be imputed to us. *Also* our *liability to sin* was laid upon Him, in His being made flesh, in His being born of a woman, of the same flesh and blood as we are, so that His righteousness might be actually manifested in us as our daily life.

Thus He met sin *in the flesh which He took* and *triumphed over it*, as it is written: "God sending His own Son in the *likeness of sinful flesh*, and for sin, *condemned sin* IN THE FLESH." And again: "He is our peace, . . . having abolished *in His flesh* the enmity."

And thus, just as our sins *actually committed* were imputed to Him, that His righteousness might be imputed to us; so His meeting and conquering, *in the flesh*, the *liability to sin*, and in that *same* flesh *manifesting righteousness*, enables us in Him, and Him in us, to meet and conquer in the flesh this *same liability to sin*, and to manifest righteousness in the same flesh.

And thus it is that for the sins, which we have actually committed, for the sins that are past, *His righteousness* is imputed to *us*, as *our sins* were imputed to *Him*. And to *keep us from sinning*, His righteousness is *imparted* to us in our flesh; as our flesh, with its liability to sin, was *imparted* to Him. Thus He is the complete Saviour. He saves from all the sins that we have actually committed; and saves equally from all the sins that we might commit, dwelling apart from Him.

If He took not the same flesh and blood that the children of men have, with its liability to sin, then where could there be any philosophy or reason of any kind whatever in *His genealogy* as given in the Scriptures? He was descended from David; He was descended from Abraham; He was descended from Adam; and, by being made of a woman, He reached even back of Adam, to the beginning of sin in the world.

In that genealogy there are Jehoiakim, who for his wickedness was "buried with the burial of an ass, drawn and cast forth beyond the gates of Jerusalem" (Jeremiah 22:19); Manasseh, who caused Judah to do "worse than the heathen;" Ahaz, who "made Judah naked, and transgressed sore against the Lord;" Rehoboam, who was born of Solomon after Solomon turned from the Lord; Solomon himself, who was born of David and Bathsheba; there are also Ruth the Moabitess, and Rahab; as well as Abraham, Isaac, Jesse, Asa, Jehoshaphat, Hezekiah, and Josiah: the worst equally with the best. And the evil deeds of even the best are recorded equally with the good. And in this whole genealogy there is hardly *one*, whose life is written upon at all, of whom there is not some wrong act recorded.

Now it was at the end of such a genealogy as that that "the Word was *made flesh*, and dwelt *among us*." It was at the end of such a genealogy as that that He was made of a woman." It was in such a line of descent as that that God sent "His own Son in *the likeness of sinful flesh*." And such a descent, such a genealogy, meant something to Him, as it does to every other man, under the great law that the iniquities of the fathers are visited upon the children, to the third and fourth generations. It meant everything to Him in the terrible temptations in the wilderness of temptation, as well as all the way through His life in the flesh.

Thus, both by heredity and by imputation, He was "laden with the sins of the world." And, thus laden, at this immense disadvantage, He passed triumphantly over the ground where, at no shadow of any disadvantage whatever, the first pair

failed.

By His death He paid the penalty of all sins actually *committed*, and thus can justly bestow His righteousness upon all who choose to receive it. And by condemning sin *in the flesh*, by abolishing in His *flesh* the enmity, He delivers from the power of the law of heredity; and so can, in righteousness, impart His divine nature and power to lift above that law, and hold above it, every soul that receives Him.

And so it is written: "When the fulness of the time was come, God sent forth His Son, made of a woman, made under the law, to redeem them that were under the law, that we might receive the adoption of sons." Galatians 4:4. And "God sending His own Son in the likeness of sinful flesh, and for [on account of] sin, condemned sin in the flesh: that *the righteousness* of *the law* might be fulfilled *in us*, who walk not after the flesh, but after the Spirit." Romans 8:3, 4. And "He is our peace, . . . having abolished in His flesh the enmity, . . . for to make in Himself of twain [God and man] one new man, so making peace." Ephesians 2:14, 15

Thus, "*in all things* it behooved Him to be made like unto His brethren. . . . For in that He Himself hath suffered being tempted, He is able to succor them that are tempted."

Whether temptation be from within or from without, He is the perfect shield against it all; and so saves to the uttermost all who come unto God by Him.

God sending His own Son in the likeness of sinful flesh, Christ taking our nature as our nature is in its sinfulness and degeneracy, and God dwelling constantly with Him and in Him in that nature—in this God has demonstrated to all people forever, that there is no soul in this world so laden with sins or so lost that God will not gladly dwell with him and in him to save him from it all, and to lead him in the way of the righteousness of God.

And so certainly is his name Emmanuel, which is, "God with us."

## Chapter 8 - In All Things Like

IT should be particularly noted that in the first and second chapters of Hebrews the thought and discussion concerning the person of Christ is especially as to nature and *substance*. In Philippians 2:5-8, there is presented the thought of Christ's relationship to God and to man, especially as to nature and *form*. Thus: "Let this mind be in you, which was also in Christ Jesus: who, being in the *form* of *God*, thought it not robbery to be *equal with God*: but *emptied Himself*, and took upon Him the *form* of a *servant*, and was made in the likeness of men: and being found in *fashion* as a man, He humbled Himself, and became obedient unto death, even the death of the cross." Philippians 2:5-8, and R.V.

When Jesus emptied Himself He became man; and God was revealed in the Man. When Jesus emptied Himself, on the one side man appeared, and on the other side God appeared. Thus, in Him God and man meet in peace, and become one: "for He is our peace, who hath made both [God and man] one, ... having abolished in His flesh the enmity, ... to make in Himself of twain [God and man] one new man, so making peace." Ephesians 2:14, 15

He who was in the form of *God* took the form of *man*.

He who was equal with God became equal with man.

He who was Creator and Lord became creature and servant.

He who was in the likeness of God, was made in the likeness of men.

He who was God, and Spirit, was made man, and flesh. John 1:1, 14

Nor is this true only as to *form:* it is true as to *substance*. For Christ was *like* God in the sense of being of the nature, in very substance, of God. He was made in the *like*ness of *men*, in the sense of being *like men*, in the nature and very substance of men.

Christ was God. He became man. And when He became *man*, He *was* man as really as He was God.

He became man in order that He might redeem man.

He came to man where man *is*, to bring man to Him where He was and *is*.

And in order to redeem man from what man is, He was made what man is: -

Man is flesh. Genesis 6:3; John 3:6. "And the Word was made flesh." John 1:14; Hebrews 2:14

Man is under the law. Romans 3:19. Christ was "made under the law." Galatians 4:4

Man is under the curse. Galatians 3:10; Zechariah 5:1-4, "Christ was made a curse." Galatians 3:13.

Man is sold under sin (Romans 7:14), and laden with iniquity. Isaiah 1:4. And "the Lord hath *laid* on *Him* the iniquity of *us all*." Isaiah 53:6

Man is "a body of sin." Romans 6:6. And God "hath made Him to be *sin.*" 2 Corinthians 5:21

Thus, literally, "in all things it behooved Him to be made like unto His brethren."

Yet it must never be forgotten, it must be borne in mind and heart constantly and forever, that in none of this as to man, the flesh, sin, and the curse was Christ ever *of Himself* or of His own original nature or fault. All this He "was *made*." "He *took upon* Him the form of a servant, and *was made* in the likeness of men."

And in all this *Christ* was "*made*" what, before, He *was not*, in order that *the man* might be made *now* and *forever* what he *is not*.

Christ was the Son of God. He became the Son of man, that the sons of men might become the sons of God. Galatians 4:4; 1 John 3:1

Christ was Spirit. 1 Corinthians 15:45. He became flesh in order that man, who is flesh, might become spirit. John 3:6; Romans 8:8-10

*Christ*, who was altogether of the *divine* nature, was made partaker of *human* nature, in order that we who are altogether of the *human* nature "might be partakers of the divine nature." 2 Peter 1:4

*Christ*, who *knew no sin*, was *made to be sin*, even the sinfulness of man, in order that *we*, who knew no righteousness, might be made righteousness, even the righteousness of God.

And as the righteousness of God, which, in Christ, the *man* is *made*, is *real righteousness*, so the sin of men, which *Christ was made* in the flesh, was *real sin*.

As certainly as our sins, when upon us, are real sins to us, so certainly, when these sins were laid upon Him, they became real sins to Him.

As certainly as guilt attaches to these sins, and *to us* because of them, when they are *upon us*, so certainly this guilt attached to these same sins of ours, and *to Him* because of them, when they were laid *upon Him*.

As the sense of condemnation and discouragement of our sins was real to us, when these sins of ours were upon us, so certainly this same sense of condemnation and discouragement, *because of the guilt of these sins, was realized by Him* when these sins of ours were laid upon Him.

Thus the guilt, the condemnation, the discouragement of the knowledge of sin were His—were a fact in His conscious experience—as really as they were ever such in the life of any sinner that was ever on earth. And this awful truth brings to every sinful soul in the world the glorious truth that "the righteousness of God," and the rest, the peace, and the joy, of that righteousness, are a fact in the conscious experience of the believer in Jesus in this world, as really as they are in the life of any saint who was ever in heaven.

He who knew the height of the righteousness of God, acquired also the knowledge of the depth of the sins of men. He knows the awfulness of the depths of the sins of men, as well as He knows the glory of the heights of the righteousness of God. And by this "His knowledge shall My righteous Servant justify many." Isaiah 53:11. By this His knowledge He is able to deliver every sinner from the lowest depths of sin, and lift him to the highest height of righteousness, even the very righteousness of God.

Made "in all things" like unto us, He *was* in all points like as we *are*. So fully was this so that He could say, even as we must say the same truth, "I can of Mine own self do nothing." John 5:30

Of Him this was so entirely true that, in the weakness and infirmity of the flesh, -ours which He took—He *was* as *is* the man who is without God and without Christ. For it is only without Him that men can do nothing. *With* Him and *through* Him, it is written: "I can do all things." But of those who are *without* Him it is written: "*Without Me* ye can do *nothing*." John 15:5

Therefore, when of Himself He said, "I can of Mine own self do nothing," this makes it certain forever that in the flesh, —because of our infirmities which He took; because of our sinfulness, hereditary and actual, which was laid upon Him, and imparted to Him; —He was of Himself in that flesh exactly as is the man who, in the infirmity of the flesh, is laden with sins, actual and hereditary, and who is without God. And standing thus weak, laden with sins, and helpless, as we are, in divine faith He exclaimed, "I will put My trust in Him." Hebrews 2:13

He came to "seek and to save that which was lost." And in saving the lost, He came to the lost where we are. He put Himself among the lost. "He was numbered with the transgressors." He was "made to be sin." And from the standpoint of the weakness and infirmity of the lost, He *trusted in God*, that He would deliver Him and save Him. Laden with the sins of the world, and tempted in all points like as we are, He hoped in God, and trusted in God to save Him from

all those sins, and to keep Him from sinning. Psalm 69:1-21; 71:1-20; 22:1-22; 31:1-5

And this is the faith of Jesus: this is the point where the faith of Jesus reaches lost, sinful man, to help him. For thus it has been demonstrated, to the very fulness of perfection, that there is no man in the wide world for whom there is not hope in God: no one so lost that he can not be saved by trusting God in this faith of Jesus. And this faith of Jesus, by which in the place of the lost, He hoped in God, and trusted God for salvation from sin, and power to keep from sinning, — this victory of His it is that has brought to every man in the world divine faith, by which every man can hope in God, and trust in God, and can find the power of God to deliver him from sin and to keep him from sinning. That faith which He exercised, and by which He obtained the victory over the world, the flesh, and the devil, —that faith is His free gift to every lost man in the world. And thus "this is the victory that overcometh the world, even our faith;" and this is the faith of which He is the Author and Finisher.

This is the faith of Jesus that is given to men. This is the faith of Jesus that must be received by men, in order for them to be saved. This is the faith of Jesus which, now in this time of the Third Angel's Message, must be received and *kept* by those who will be saved from the worship of the "beast and his image," and enabled to keep the commandments of God. This is the faith of Jesus referred to in the closing words of the Third Angel's Message: "Here are they that *keep* the commandments of God, and *the faith of Jesus*."

And now of the things, which *we* have spoken, *this is the sum:* "*We have* SUCH *an High Priest.*" All that we have thus found in the first and second chapters of Hebrews is the essential foundation and preliminary of His high priesthood. For "*in all things* it behooved Him to be made like unto His brethren, *that* [so that, in order that] *He might be a merciful and faithful High Priest* in things pertaining to God, to make reconciliation for the sins of the people. For in that He Himself hath suffered, being tempted, He is able to succor them that are tempted." Hebrews 2:17, 18

## **Chapter 9 - Further Qualifications of Our High Priest**

SUCH is the thought of the first two chapters of Hebrews. And upon this the third chapter opens, or rather the one great thought continues, with the beautiful exhortation: "Wherefore, holy brethren, partakers of the heavenly calling, consider the Apostle and High Priest of our profession, Christ Jesus; who was faithful to Him that appointed Him." Having presented Christ in the flesh, as He was made "in all things" like the children of men, and our nearest of kin, we are now asked to consider Him in His faithfulness in that position.

The first Adam was not faithful. This last Adam "was faithful to Him that appointed Him, as also Moses was faithful in all His [God's] house. For this Man was counted worthy of more glory than Moses, inasmuch as He who hath builded the house hath more honor than the house. For every house is builded by some man; but He that built all things is God. And Moses verily was faithful in all His [God's] house, as a servant, for a testimony of those things which were to be spoken after; but Christ [was faithful] as a son over His own house; whose house are we, if we hold fast the confidence and the rejoicing of the hope firm unto the end."

Next is cited Israel, who came out of Egypt, who were not faithful; who failed of entering into God's rest, because they believed not in Him. Then upon this is the exhortation to *us to* "*fear*, lest, a promise being left us of entering into His rest, any of you should seem to come short of it. For unto us was the gospel preached, as well as unto them; but the word preached did not profit them, not being mixed with faith in them that heard it. For we which have believed do enter into rest," in believing in Him who gave Himself for our sins.

We enter into rest in the forgiveness of all our sins, through believing in Him who was faithful in every obligation and under every temptation of life. We also enter into rest and there abide, by being partaker of His faithfulness, in which and by which we also shall be faithful to Him who has appointed us. For in considering Him "the High Priest of our profession" in His faithfulness, we are ever to consider that "we have not an high priest which can not be touched with the feeling of our infirmities; but was in all points tempted like as we are, yet without sin." Hebrews 4:15

When we "have *not* an high priest which can *not* be touched with the feeling of our infirmities," we *have* an High Priest who *can* be touched with the feeling of our infirmities. And the way in which He can and is touched with the feeling of our infirmities is that He "was in all points tempted like as we are." There is not a point in which any soul can be tempted but that He has been exactly so tempted, and has felt the temptation as truly as any human soul can feel it. But, though He was in all points tempted like as we are, and felt the power of it as truly as any
one can, yet in it all He was faithful; and through it all He passed "without sin." And by faith in Him—in this His faithfulness—every soul can meet all temptation and pass through it without sinning.

This is our salvation: for He was made flesh as man, and in all things it behooved Him to be made like unto His brethren, and to be tempted in all points like as we are, "*that He might be a merciful and faithful High Priest* in things pertaining to God." And this not only "to make reconciliation for the sins of the people," but also to "succor"—to run under, to run to the aid of, to assist and deliver from suffering—"them that are tempted." He is our merciful and faithful High Priest to succor—run under—us when we are tempted, to keep us from falling under the temptation, and so to keep us from falling under sin. He "*runs under*" us is our temptation, so we shall not *fall under* the temptation, but shall conquer it, and rise in victory over it, sinning not.

"Seeing then that we have a great High Priest, that is passed into the heavens, Jesus the Son of God, *let us hold fast our profession*." Hebrews 4:14. And also seeing that we have such an High Priest, "let us therefore come boldly unto the throne of grace, that we may obtain mercy, and find grace to help in time of need."

Further, in presenting for our consideration our High Priest in His faithfulness, it is written that "every high priest taken from among men is ordained for men in things pertaining to God, that he may offer both gifts and sacrifices for sins: *who can have compassion on the ignorant, and on them that are out of the way;* for that He Himself also is compassed with infirmity." Hebrews 5:1, 2

And this is why it is that in order that He should be a merciful and faithful high priest in things pertaining to God, and that He should bring many unto glory, it became Him, as the Captain of their salvation, to be "compassed with infirmity," to be tried by temptation, to be "a man of sorrows and acquainted with grief;" thus "in all things" to be made acquainted with human experience, so that He truly "can have compassion on the ignorant, and on them that are not of the way." In a word, in order that He might be "a merciful and faithful High Priest in things pertaining to God," it became Him to be made "perfect through sufferings."

"And no man taketh this honor [of high priesthood] unto himself, but *he that is called of God*, as was Aaron. *So* also *Christ glorified not Himself* to be made an High Priest; but He that said unto Him, Thou art My Son, to-day have I begotten Thee. As He saith also in another place, Thou art a Priest forever after the order of Melchisedec. Who in the days of His flesh, when He had offered up prayers and supplications with strong crying and tears unto Him that was able to save Him from death, and was heard in that He feared; though He were a Son, yet *learned He obedience* by the things *which He suffered;* and being made perfect [being tested to perfection in all points], He became the author of *eternal* 

*salvation* unto all them that obey Him; called of God an High Priest after the order of Melchisedec." Hebrews 5:4-10

"And inasmuch as not without an oath He was made Priest; for those priests [of the Levitical priesthood] were made without an oath; but this *with an oath* by Him that said unto Him, The Lord sware and will not repent, Thou art a Priest forever after the order of Melchisedec: by *so much* was Jesus made a surety of a better testament." Thus, above all others, *by the oath of God*, Jesus was made a Priest. Therefore, and "by *so much*" "we have *such* an High Priest."

And further, "They [of the order of Aaron] truly were many priests, because they were not suffered to continue by reason of death: but this man, because He continueth ever, hath an unchangeable priesthood." Hebrews 7:23, 24. By the oath of God He is made a Priest forever. He is also made a Priest "after the power of an endless life." Hebrews 7:16. Therefore "He continueth ever." And because He continueth ever, He hath an "unchangeable priesthood." And because of all this, "He is able also to save them to the uttermost that come unto God by Him, seeing He *ever liveth* to make intercession for them." Hebrews 7:25. And "*we* have *such* an High Priest."

And "*such* an High Priest *became us*, who is holy, harmless, undefiled, separate from sinners, and made higher than the heavens; who needeth not daily, as those high priests, to offer up sacrifice, first for his own sins, and then for the people's; for this He did once, when He offered up Himself. For the law maketh men high priests which have infirmity; but the *word of the oath*, which was since the law, maketh the Son [High Priest], who is consecrated forevermore." Hebrews 7:26, 27

## Chapter 10 - The Sum

AND, "now of the things which we have spoken this is the sum: We have such an High Priest." And what is that of which this is "the sum"?

1. That He who was higher than the angels, as God, was made lower than the angels, as man.

2. That He who was of the nature of God was made of the nature of man.

3. That He who was in all things like God was made in all things like man.

4. That as man He was tempted in all points like as men are, and never sinned; but was in all things faithful to Him that appointed Him.

5. That, as man, tempted in all points like as we are, He was touched with the feeling of our infirmities, and was made perfect through sufferings, in order that He might be a merciful and faithful High Priest; and was called of God to be an High Priest.

6. That by the power of an endless life He was made High Priest.

7. And that by the oath of God He was made High Priest.

Such are the specifications of the Word of God, of which the "sum" is. "We have such an High Priest."

And yet that is only a part of "the sum." For the whole statement of "the sum" is, "We have such an High Priest, who is set on the right hand of the throne of the Majesty in the heavens; *a minister of the sanctuary*, and of *the true tabernacle*, which *the Lord pitched*, and not man."

On earth there was a sanctuary which man pitched, and which man made. True, this sanctuary was both made and pitched under the direction of the Lord; nevertheless, it is far different from the sanctuary and the true tabernacle, which the Lord Himself pitched, and not man—as far different as the work of man is from the work of God.

That "worldly sanctuary," with its ministry, is more briefly described, and the meaning of it is more briefly told, in Hebrews 9, than would be possible otherwise to do. Therefore we quote Hebrews 9:2-12, inclusive: "For there was a tabernacle made; the first, wherein was the candlestick, and the table, and the shewbread; which is called the sanctuary. And after the second veil, the tabernacle which is called the holiest of all; which had the golden censer, and the ark of the covenant overlaid round about with gold, wherein was the golden pot that had manna, and Aaron's rod that budded, and the tables of the covenant; and over it the

cherubims of glory shadowing the mercy-seat; of which we can not now speak particularly.

"Now when these things were thus ordained, the priests went always into the first tabernacle, accomplishing the service of God. But into the second went the high priest alone once every year, not without blood, which he offered for himself, and for the errors of the people; *the Holy Ghost this signifying*, that the way into the holiest of all was not yet made manifest, while as the first tabernacle was yet standing: which was a figure for the time then present, in which were offered both gifts and sacrifices, that could not make him that did the service perfect, as pertaining to the conscience; which stood only in meats and drinks, and divers washings, and carnal ordinances, imposed on them until the time of reformation. But Christ being come an High Priest of good things to come, by a greater and more perfect tabernacle, not made with hands, that is to say, not of this building; neither by the blood of goats and calves, but by His own blood He entered in once into the holy place, having obtained eternal redemption for us."

That sanctuary was but "a figure;" and it was but a figure "for the time then present." In it priests and high priests ministered and offered both gifts and sacrifices. But all this priesthood, ministry, gift, and sacrifice was, *equally with the sanctuary*, only "a figure for the time then present," for it all "could not make him that did the service perfect, as pertaining to the conscience."

That sanctuary and tabernacle itself was but a figure of the sanctuary and the true tabernacle, which the Lord pitched, and not man.

The high priest of that sanctuary was but a figure of Christ, who is High Priest of the sanctuary and the true tabernacle.

The ministry of that high priest of the sanctuary on earth was but a figure of the ministry of Christ, our great High Priest, "who is set on the right hand of the throne of the Majesty in the heavens; a minister of the sanctuary, and of the true tabernacle, which the Lord pitched, and not man."

The offerings of the priesthood in the ministry of the sanctuary on earth were but a figure of the offering of Christ, the true High Priest, in His ministry in the sanctuary and the true tabernacle.

Thus Christ was the true substance and meaning of all the priesthood and service of the sanctuary on earth; and any part of it that ever passed without this as its meaning was simply meaningless. And as certainly as Christ is the true Priest of Christianity, of which the Levitical priesthood was a figure; so certainly the sanctuary of which Christ is minister is the true sanctuary of Christianity, of which the Levitical dispensation was a figure. And so it is written: "If *He were on earth*, He *should not be a priest*, seeing that there are

priests that offer gifts according to the law: who serve unto *the example* and *shadow of heavenly things*, as Moses was admonished of God when he was about to make the tabernacle: for, See, saith He, that thou make all things according to *the pattern shewed to thee in the mount*." Hebrews 8:4, 5

"It was therefore necessary that the *patterns of things in the heavens* should be purified with these [earthly sacrifices]; but the *heavenly things themselves* with *better sacrifices* than these. For Christ is not entered into the holy places made with hands, which are *the figures of the true*; but into *heaven itself*, now to appear in the presence of God for us." And in "heaven itself," in the Christian dispensation, there was seen the throne of God and a golden altar and an angel with a golden censer offering incense with the prayers of all saints, "And the smoke of the incense, which came with the prayers of the saints, ascended up before God out of the angel's hand." Revelation 4:5; 8:2-4. Also in this same time there was seen in "heaven itself" the temple of God; and "the temple of God was opened in heaven, and there was seen in His temple the ark of His testament." Revelation 11:19; 15:5-8; 16:1. And further there was seen one like the Son of man clothed in the high priestly garment. Revelation 1:13

There is therefore a Christian sanctuary, of which the former sanctuary was a figure, as truly as there is a Christian high priesthood of which the former high priesthood was a figure. And there is a ministry of Christ, our High Priest, in this Christian sanctuary, as truly as there was a ministry of the former priesthood in the former and earthly sanctuary. And "of the things which we have spoken, this is the sum: We have such an High Priest who is set on the right hand of the throne of the Majesty in the heavens; a minister of the sanctuary and of the true tabernacle, which the Lord pitched, and not man."

## Chapter 11 - That I May Dwell Among Them

WHEN the Lord gave to Israel the original directions for the making of the sanctuary, that was to be a figure for the time then present, he said, "Let them make me a sanctuary, that I may dwell among them." Exodus 25:8

That He might "dwell among them" was the object of the sanctuary. This purpose of the sanctuary is more fully stated in the following: "And there I will meet with the children of Israel, and the tabernacle [*margin*, "Israel"] shall be sanctified by my glory. And I will sanctify the tabernacle of the congregation, and the altar: I will sanctify also both Aaron and his sons, to minister to me in the priest's office. And *I will dwell among* the children of Israel, and will be their God. And they shall know that I am the Lord their God, that brought them forth out of the land of Egypt, *that I may dwell among them:* I am the Lord their God." Exodus 29:43-46; also Leviticus 26:11, 12

This purpose was not that He should dwell among them simply and only by the tabernacle's being set up in the midst of the camp of Israel. This is the great mistake that Israel made in the use of the tabernacle, and so almost wholly lost the true purpose of the sanctuary. When the tabernacle was made and was set up in the midst of the camp of Israel, many of the children of Israel supposed that that was enough; they supposed that to be the way in which God would dwell in the midst of them.

It is true that by the Shekinah, God did dwell in the sanctuary. But even the sanctuary with its splendid furniture, standing in the midst of the camp—this was not all of the sanctuary. In addition to the splendid building and its furniture, there were the sacrifices and offerings of the people; and the sacrifices and offerings on behalf of the people. There were the priests in their continual services; and there was the high priest in his holy ministry. Without these the sanctuary was for Israel practically an empty thing, even though the Lord did dwell in it.

And what was the meaning and purpose of these things? Let us see: When any of the children of Israel had "done somewhat against any of the commandments of the Lord concerning things which should not be done," and so was "guilty;" then "of his own voluntary will" he brought to the door of the tabernacle, his sacrificial lamb. Before the lamb was offered in sacrifice the individual who had brought it laid his hands upon its head and confessed his sins, and it was "accepted for him to make atonement for him." Then he, who had brought the lamb and confessed his sins, slew it. Its blood was caught in a basin. Some of the blood was sprinkled round about upon the altar of burnt offering," which was at the door of the tabernacle; some of it was put "upon the horns of the altar of sweet incense, which is in the tabernacle of the congregation;" some of it was sprinkled "seven times before the Lord before the veil of the sanctuary;" and all the rest of it was poured out "at the bottom of the altar of burnt offering, which is at the door of the tabernacle of the congregation." The lamb itself was burnt upon the altar of burnt offering. And of all this service, it is written in conclusion: "and the priest shall make an atonement for his sin that he hath committed, and it shall be forgiven him." The service was similar in case of the sin and confession of the whole congregation. Also there was a similar service, a continual service morning and evening, in behalf of the whole congregation. But whether the services were individual or general, the conclusion of it was always declared to be "The priest shall make an atonement for him [or them], and it shall be forgiven him." See Leviticus chapters 1 to 5

The course of service of the sanctuary was completed annually. And the day of the completion of the service, the tenth day of the seventh month, was especially "the day of atonement," or the cleansing of the sanctuary. On that day service was concluded in the Most Holy Place. That day was the "once every year" when "the High Priest alone" went into the "Holiest of all" or Most Holy Place. And, of the high priest and his service that day it is written, "He shall make an atonement for the holy sanctuary, and he shall make an atonement for the tabernacle of the congregation, and for the altar, and he shall make an atonement for the priests, and for all the people of the congregation." Leviticus 16:2-34; Hebrews 9:2-8

Thus the services of the sanctuary, in the offering of the sacrifices and the ministering of the priests, and of the high priests alone, was for the making of atonement, and for the forgiveness and sending away of the sins of the people. Because of the sin and guilt, because of their having "done somewhat against any of the commandments of the Lord concerning things which should not be done," atonement must be made and forgiveness obtained. Atonement is literally at-one-ment. The sin and the guilt had separated them from God. By these services they were made at-one with God. Forgive is literally give-for. To forgive sin is to give for sin. Forgiveness of sin comes alone from God. What does God give, what has He given, for sin? He gave Christ, and Christ "gave himself for our sins." Galatians 1:4; Ephesians 2:12-16; Romans 5:8-11

Therefore when an individual or the whole congregation of Israel had sinned and desired forgiveness the whole problem and plan of forgiveness, of atonement, of salvation, was worked out before their faces. The sacrifice, which was brought, was in faith of the sacrifice, which God had already made in giving His Son for sin. In this faith sinners were accepted of God, and Christ was received of them for their sin. Thus they were made at one with God; and thus God would dwell *in the midst of them:* that is, He would dwell in each heart and abide in each life, to make that heart and life "holy, harmless, undefiled, and separate from sinners." And the placing of the tabernacle in the *midst of the camp* of Israel was an illustration, an object lesson and suggestion, of the truth that He would dwell in *the midst* of each individual. Ephesians 3:16-19 *Some* of that nation, in every age, saw in the sanctuary this great saving truth. But as a body, in all ages, Israel missed this thought; and stopping only with the thought of His dwelling *in the tabernacle* in the midst of the camp, they came short of having His own personal presence dwelling *in their individual lives*. Accordingly their worship became only outward and formal, rather than inward and spiritual. Therefore, their own lives continued unreformed and unholy; and so those who came out of Egypt missed the great thing, which God had for them, and "fell in the wilderness." Hebrews 3:17-19

The same mistake was made by the people after they had passed into the land of Canaan. They put their dependence on the Lord, *only as He dwelt in the tabernacle;* and would not allow that the tabernacle and its ministry should be the means of His dwelling in themselves through faith. Consequently their lives only increased in wickedness. Therefore God allowed the tabernacle to be destroyed and the ark of God to be taken captive by the heathen, (Jeremiah 7:12; 1 Samuel 4:10-22) in order that the people might learn to see and find and worship God individually, and so find Him to dwell with them individually.

After the absence of the tabernacle and its service from among Israel for about a hundred years, it was restored by David and was merged in the grand temple that was built by Solomon. But again its true purpose was gradually lost sight of. Formalism with its attending wickedness more and more increased, until in Israel the Lord was compelled to cry out: "I hate, I despise your feast days, and I will not smell in your solemn assemblies. Though ye offer Me burnt offerings and your meat offerings, I will not accept them: neither will I regard the peace offerings of your fat beasts. Take thou away from me the noise of thy songs; for I will not hear the melody of thy viols. But let judgment run down as waters, and righteousness as a mighty stream." Amos 5:21-24

Also in Judah, by Isaiah, He was compelled to make a like plea: "Hear the word of the Lord, ye rulers of Sodom; give ear unto the law of our God, ye people of Gomorrah. To what purpose is the multitude of your sacrifices unto Me? saith the Lord: I am full of the burnt offerings of rams, and the fat of fed beasts; and I delight not in the blood of bullocks, or of lambs, or of he goats. When ye come to appear before Me, who hath required this at your hand, to tread My courts? Bring no more vain oblations; incense is an abomination unto Me; the new moons and sabbaths, the calling of assemblies, I can not away with; it is iniquity, even the solemn meeting. Your new moons and your appointed feasts My soul hateth: they are a trouble unto Me; I am weary to bear them. And when ye spread forth your hands, I will hide Mine eyes from you: yea, when ye make many prayers, I will not hear: your hands are full of blood. Wash you, make you clean; put away the evil of your doings from before Mine eyes; cease to do evil; learn to do well; seek judgment, relieve the oppressed, judge the fatherless, plead for the widow. Come now, and let us reason together, saith the Lord: though your sins be as

scarlet, they shall be as white as snow; though they be red like crimson, they shall be as wool." Isaiah 1:10-18

Yet His pleas were not regarded. Israel was therefore carried captive and her land was left desolate because of their wickedness; and the like fate hung over Judah. And still this danger to Judah was from the same great cause that the Lord had been striving always to teach the nation, and which they had not yet learned: the holding of *the temple*, and God's presence *in that temple*, as the great end; instead of holding that as only the means to the true end which was that *by means of the temple and its ministry* in accomplishing forgiveness and atonement, He who dwelt *in the temple* would dwell *in themselves*. And so again the Lord pleaded with His people by Jeremiah that He might save them from this mistake; and have them see and receive the great truth of the real meaning and purpose of the temple and its service.

Thus He said: "Behold, ye trust in lying words, that can not profit. Will ye steal, murder, and commit adultery, and swear falsely, and burn incense unto Baal, and walk after other gods whom ye know not; and come and stand before Me in this house, which is called by My name, and say, We are delivered to do all these abominations? Is this house, which is called by My name, become a den of robbers in your eyes? Behold, even I have seen it, saith the Lord.

"But go ye now unto My place which was in Shiloh, where I set My name at the first, and see what I did to it for the wickedness of My people Israel. And now, because ye have done all these works, saith the Lord, and I spake unto you, rising up early and speaking, but ye heard not; and I called you, but ye answered not; therefore will I do unto this house, which is called by My name, wherein ye trust, and unto the place which I gave to you and to your fathers, as I have done to Shiloh. And I will cast you out of My sight, as I have cast out all your brethren, even the whole seed of Ephraim. Therefore pray not thou for this people, neither lift up cry nor prayer for them, neither make intercession to Me: for I will not hear thee. . . . Oh that My head were waters, and Mine eyes a fountain of tears, that I might weep day and night for the slain of the daughter of My people! Oh that I had in the wilderness a lodging place of wayfaring men; that I might leave My people, and go from them! for they be all adulterers, an assembly of treacherous men. And they bend their tongues like their bow for lies: but they are not valiant for the truth upon the earth; for they proceed from evil to evil, and they know not Me. Jeremiah 7:8-16; 9:1, 3

What were specifically the "lying words" in which these people trusted? Here they are: "Trust ye not in lying words, saying, The temple of the Lord, The temple of the Lord, The temple of the Lord, are these." Jeremiah 7:4. Thus it is made perfectly plain that the people though going through the forms of worship and of the temple service, went through all this merely as forms, missing entirely the purpose of the temple and its services, which was solely that God might reform

and make holy the lives of the people by His dwelling in them individually. And missing all this, the wickedness of their hearts only more and more made itself manifest. For this reason all their sacrifices, worship, and prayers, were only mockery and noise, so long as their hearts and lives were unreformed and unholy.

Therefore the word "came to Jeremiah from the Lord, saying, Stand in the gate of the Lord's house, and proclaim there this word, and say, Hear the word of the Lord, all ye of Judah, that enter in at these gates to worship the Lord. Thus saith the Lord of hosts, the God of Israel, Amend your ways and your doings, and I will cause you to dwell in this place. Trust ye not in lying words, saying, The temple of the Lord, The temple of the Lord, The temple of the Lord, are these. For if ye thoroughly amend your ways and your doings; if ye thoroughly execute judgment between a man and his neighbor; if ye oppress not the stranger, the fatherless, and the widow, and shed not innocent blood in this place, neither walk after other gods to your hurt: then will I cause you to dwell in this place, in the land that I gave to your fathers, forever and ever." Jeremiah 7:1-7

Instead of allowing God's great purpose of the temple and its services to be met in themselves, the people utterly perverted that purpose. Instead of allowing the temple and its services which God in His mercy had planted among them, to teach them how that He in truth would dwell among them by dwelling in their hearts and making holy their lives, they excluded all this true purpose of the temple and its services and perverted it all to the utterly false purpose of sanctioning grossest wickedness and cloaking deepest, darkest unholiness.

For such a system there was no remedy but destruction. Accordingly the city was besieged and captured by the heathen. The temple, their "holy and beautiful house" was destroyed. And with the city and the temple a heap of burnt and blackened ruins, the people were carried captive to Babylon, where in their sorrow and the deep sense of their great loss they sought and found and worshiped the Lord in a way that so reformed their lives that if they had done it when the temple stood, it would have stood forever. Psalm 137:1-6

God brought them back from Babylon a humbled and reformed people. His holy temple was rebuilt and its services were restored. The people again dwelt in their city, and their land. But apostasy again ensued. The same course was again repeated until, Jesus, the great center of the temple and its services came to His own, the same old condition of things again prevailed. Matthew 21:12, 13; 23:13-32. In their hearts they could persecute and pursue Him to the death and yet outwardly be so holy (?) that they could not cross the threshold of Pilate's judgment hall "lest they should be defiled"! John 18:28

And the Lord's appeal to the people was still the same as of old—that they should find in their own personal lives the meaning of the temple and its services,

and so be saved from the fate which had overtaken their nation through all its history, because of this same great mistake which they were repeating. Accordingly, one day in the temple Jesus said to the multitude there present, "Destroy this temple, and in three days I will raise it up. Then said the Jews, Forty and six years was this temple in building, and wilt thou rear it up in three days? But He spake of the temple of His body." John 2:19-21. When Jesus *in the temple* spoke thus to that people, referring to "the temple of His body" he was still endeavoring, as through all their history, to get them to perceive that the great purpose of the temple and its services always was that by means of the ministry and service there conducted, God would dwell and walk *in themselves* as He dwelt in the temple made that place holy: so that their bodies should be truly temples of the living God, because of God's dwelling in them and walking in them. 2 Corinthians 6:16; 1 Corinthians 3:16, 17; Leviticus 26:11, 12; 2 Samuel 7:6, 7

And still they would not see this truth. They would not be reformed. They would not have the purpose of the sanctuary met in themselves that God should dwell in them. They rejected Him who came personally to show to them this true purpose and the true Way. Therefore again there was no remedy but destruction. Again their city was taken by the heathen. Again the temple, their "holy and beautiful house," was burned with fire. Again they were taken captive and were forever scattered, to be only "wanderers among the nations." Hosea 9:17

Again let it be emphasized that the earthly sanctuary, the earthly temple, with its ministry and services, was *as such* only a figure of the true, which with *its* ministry and services was then in heaven. When the thought of the sanctuary was first presented to Moses for Israel it was stated by the Lord to him, "See . . . that thou make all things according to *the pattern* shewed to thee in the mount." Hebrews 8:5; Exodus 25:40; 25:30; 27:8. The sanctuary on the earth was therefore a figure of the true, in the sense of its being *a pattern* of the true. The ministry and services in the earthly were "figures of the true" in the sense of being "the patterns" of the true—"the patterns of things in the heavens." Hebrews 9:23, 24

The true sanctuary of which this was a figure, the original of which this was a pattern, was then in existence, but in the darkness and confusion of Egypt, Israel had lost the true idea of this, as they had also of many other things which were plain to Abraham and Isaac and Jacob; and by this object-lesson God would give to them the knowledge of the true. It was therefore not a figure in the sense of being a type of something to come that did not yet exist; but a figure in the sense of being an object-lesson and *visible representation* of that which then existed but was *invisible*, to train them up to such an experience in faith and true spirituality that they should see the invisible.

And by all this God was revealing to them and to all people forever that it is by the priesthood, ministry, and service of Christ in the true sanctuary or temple which is in heaven, that He dwells amongst men. He was revealing that in this faith of Jesus, forgiveness of sins and atonement is ministered to men, so that God dwells in them and walks in them, He being their God and they His people; and thus they be separated from all the people that are upon the face of the earth—separated unto God as His own true sons and daughters to be built up *unto perfection* in the knowledge of God. Exodus 33:15, 16; 2 Corinthians 6:16-18; 7:1

## **Chapter 12 - Perfection**

THE great thought and purpose of the true sanctuary, its priesthood, and ministry, is that God shall dwell in the hearts of the people. What now is the great thought and purpose of His dwelling in the hearts of the people? The answer is, Perfection; the moral and spiritual perfection of the worshiper.

Let us consider this: At the close of the fifth chapter of Hebrews, immediately following the statement that Christ, "being made perfect, He became the Author of eternal salvation unto all them that obey Him; called of God an High Priest after the order of Melchisedec," it is written: "Therefore," that is, *because of this*, for *this reason*, "leaving the principles of the doctrine of Christ, *let us go on* unto *perfection*." Hebrews 6:1

Next it is shown that perfection is attained only through the Melchisedec priesthood. And it is shown that this was always so, and that the Levitical priesthood was only temporary, and typical of the Melchisedec priesthood. Following this, in discussing the Levitical priesthood, it is written: "If therefore *perfection* were by the Levitical priesthood, . . . what further need was there that another priest should rise after the order of Melchisedec, and not be called after the order of Aaron?" Hebrews 7:11. And again, in the same connection, "For the law made *nothing perfect*, but the bringing in of a better hope *did* [or "but it was the bringing in of a better hope," margin]; by the which we draw nigh unto God." Verse 19

By these scriptures it is perfectly plain that the perfection of the worshiper is that which is offered and which is attained in the priesthood and ministry of Christ.

Nor yet are these all the words on this thought. For, as already quoted in the description of the sanctuary and its service, it is said that it "was a figure for the time then present, in which were offered both gifts and sacrifices, that *could not make him* that did the service *perfect*, as pertaining to the conscience." That none of this could make him that did the service *perfect* is its great lack. Therefore that the priesthood and ministry of Christ in the true sanctuary *can* and *does* make *perfect* him, who enters by faith into the service, is the great thought and the goal of all.

That earthly service "could not make him that did the service perfect, as pertaining to the conscience." "But Christ being come an High Priest of good things to come, by a greater and more perfect tabernacle, not made with hands, that is to say, not of this building; neither by the blood of goats and calves, but by His own blood He entered in once into the holy place, having *obtained eternal redemption* for us." Hebrews 9:12, 12. This sanctuary, priesthood, sacrifice, and

ministry of Christ's does *make perfect* in *eternal redemption* every one who by faith enters into the service, and so receives that which that service is established to give.

Further, "For if the blood of bulls and of goats, and the ashes of an heifer sprinkling the unclean, sanctifieth to the purifying of the flesh: *how much more* shall the blood of Christ, who through the eternal Spirit offered Himself without spot to God, *purge your conscience* from dead works to serve the living God?" The blood of bulls and of goats and the ashes of an heifer sprinkling the unclean in the Levitical service and the worldly sanctuary *did* sanctify to the purifying of the flesh: for so the word concerning it continually declares. And that being so, "*how much more* shall the *blood of Christ*, who through the eternal Spirit offered Himself without spot to God," sanctify to the purifying *of the spirit* and "purge your conscience from dead works to serve the living God."

What are dead works? Death itself is the consequence of sin. Dead works therefore are works that have sin in them. Then the purging of the conscience from dead works is the so entirely cleansing of the soul from sin, by the blood of Christ, through the eternal Spirit, that in the life and works of the believer in Jesus sin shall have no place; the works shall be only works of faith, and the life shall be only the life of faith, and so be only the true and pure "service of the living God."

Again it is written: "The law having a shadow of good things to come, and not the very image of the things, *can never* with *those sacrifices* which they offered year by year continually *make the comers* thereunto *perfect*. For then would they not have ceased to be offered? because that the worshipers once purged should have had *no more conscience of sins*. But in those sacrifices there is a remembrance again made of sins every year. For it is *not possible* that the blood of bulls and of goats should *take away sins*." Hebrews 10:1-4

This again shows that though *perfection* was the aim in all the ministry that was performed under the law, yet perfection was not attained by any of those performances. They were all simply figures for the time then present of the ministry and priesthood by which perfection *is* attained; that is the ministry and priesthood of Christ. Those sacrifices could not make the comers thereunto perfect. The true sacrifice and the true ministry in "the sanctuary and the true tabernacle" do make the comers thereunto *perfect:* and this perfection consists in the worshipers having "no more conscience of sins."

But since it is "not possible" for the blood of bulls and goats to take away sins, it was *not possible*, though those sacrifices were offered year by year continually, *so to purge the worshipers* that they should have *no more conscience of sins*. The blood of bulls and of goats, and the ashes of an heifer sprinkling the unclean could and did sanctify to the purifying of the flesh; but of the flesh only: and even

this was "but a figure for the time then present" of "the blood of Christ," which *so much more* purges the worshipers that they have *no more conscience of sins*.

"Wherefore when He cometh into the world, He saith, Sacrifice and offering Thou wouldst not, but a body hast Thou prepared Me: in burnt offerings and sacrifices for sin thou hast had no pleasure. Then said I, Lo, I come . . . to do Thy will, O God. Above when he said, Sacrifice and offering and burnt offerings and offering for sin Thou wouldest not, neither hadst pleasure therein; which are offered by the law; then said He, Lo, I come to do Thy will, O God. *He taketh away the first*, that *He may establish the second*." Hebrews 10:5-9

Here are mentioned two things: "the first," and "the second." What are these two things? Which is "the first," and which "the second"? The two things mentioned are sacrifice, offering, burnt offerings, and offering for sin—all as one; and the will of God. Sacrifice, offering, burnt offerings, and offering for sin—all as one—are "the first:" and "the will of God" is "the second." "He taketh away the first, that He may establish the second." That is, He "taketh away sacrifice, offering, burnt offering for sin, that He may establish *the will of God*. And the will of God is "even your sanctification" and your perfection. 1 Thessalonians 4:3; Matthew 5:48; Ephesians 4:8, 12, 13; Hebrews 13:20, 21. But this could never be accomplished by those sacrifices, offerings, burnt offerings, and offering for sin, which were offered by the Levitical priesthood—they could not make the comers thereunto perfect. They could not so purge the worshipers that they should have no more conscience of sin. For it is not possible that the blood of bulls and of goats should take away sin.

Therefore, since the will of God is the sanctification and the perfection of the worshipers; since the will of God is that His worshipers shall be so cleansed that they shall have no more conscience of sin; and since the service and the offerings in that earthly sanctuary could not do this; He took it all away that He may establish the will of God. "*By the which* will *we are sanctified* through the offering of the body of Jesus Christ once for all."

The will of God is "even your sanctification." Sanctification is the true keeping of all the commandments of God. In other words, this is to say that the will of God concerning man is that His will shall be perfectly fulfilled in man. His will is expressed in His law of Ten Commandments, which is "the whole duty of man." This law is perfect, and perfection of character is the perfect expression of this law in the life of the worshiper of God. By this law is the knowledge of sin. And all have sinned and have come short of the glory of God; have come short of this perfection of character.

The sacrifices and the service in the earthly sanctuary could not take away the sins of men, and so could not bring them to this perfection. But the sacrifice and the ministry of the true High Priest in the sanctuary and the true tabernacle *do* 

accomplish this. This does take away utterly every sin. And the worshiper is so truly purged that he has no more conscience of sins. By the sacrifice, the offering, and the service of Himself, Christ took away the sacrifices and the offerings and the service, which could never take away sins; and by His perfect doing of the perfect will of God He, established the will of God. "By the which will *we* are sanctified through the offering of the body of Jesus Christ once for all." Hebrews 10:10

In that former earthly sanctuary and service, "every priest standeth daily ministering and offering oftentimes the same sacrifices, which *can never take away sins*." But in the service in the sanctuary and the true tabernacle, "this Man, after He had offered one sacrifice for sins forever, sat down on the right hand of God; from henceforth expecting till His enemies be made His footstool. For by *one offering* He *hath perfected forever* them that are sanctified." Hebrews 10:11-14

Thus perfection in every respect is attained through the priesthood, the sacrifice, and the service of this our great High Priest at the right hand of the throne of the Majesty in the heavens in His ministry in the sanctuary and the true tabernacle, which the Lord pitched, and not man. "Whereof *the Holy Ghost* also *is a witness to us:* for after that He had said before, this is the covenant that I will make with them after those days, saith the Lord, I will put My laws into their hearts, and in their minds will I write them; and their sins and iniquities will I remember no more. Now where remission of these is, there is no more offering for sin." Hebrews 10:15-18

And this is the "new and living way" which Christ, through the flesh, "hath consecrated for us"—for all mankind; and by which every soul may enter into the holiest of all—the holiest of all places, the holiest of all experiences, the holiest of all relationships, the holiest of all living. This new and living way He "hath consecrated for us through the flesh;" that is, He, coming in the flesh, identifying Himself with mankind in the flesh, has, for us who are in this flesh, consecrated a way from where we are to where He now is, at the right hand of the throne of the Majesty in the heavens in the holiest of all.

In His coming in the flesh—having been made in all things like unto us, and having been tempted in all points like as we are—He has identified Himself with every human soul just where that soul is. And from the place where every human soul is, He has consecrated for that soul a new and living way through all the vicissitudes and experiences of a whole lifetime, and even through death and the tomb, into the holiest of all, at the right hand of God for evermore.

O that consecrated way! Consecrated by His temptations and sufferings, by His prayers and tears, by His holy living and sacrificial dying, by His triumphant resurrection and glorious ascension, and by His triumphal entry into the holiest of all, at the right hand of the throne of the Majesty in the heavens!

And this "way" He has consecrated for *us*. He, having become one of us, has made this way *our* way; it belongs to us. He has endowed every soul with divine *right* to walk in this consecrated way; and by His having done it Himself in the flesh—in our flesh—He has made it possible, yea, He has given actual assurance, that every human soul *can* walk in that way, in all that that way is; and by it enter fully and freely into the holiest of all.

He, as one of us, in our human nature, weak as we, laden with the sins of the world, in our sinful flesh, in this world, a whole lifetime, lived a life "holy, harmless, undefiled, separate from sinners," and "was made" and ascended "higher than the heavens." And by this He has made and consecrated a way by which, *in Him*, every believer can in this world, and for a whole lifetime, live a life holy, harmless, undefiled, separate from sinners, and as a consequence be made with Him higher than the heavens.

*Perfection*, perfection of character, is the Christian goal— perfection attained in human flesh in this world. Christ attained it in human flesh in this world, and thus made and consecrated a way by which, *in Him*, every believer can attain it. He, having attained it, has become our great High Priest, by His priestly ministry in the true sanctuary to enable us to attain.

Perfection is the Christian's goal; and the High Priesthood and ministry of Christ in the true sanctuary is the only way by which any soul can attain this true goal in this world. "Thy way, O God, is in the sanctuary." Psalm 77:13

"Having therefore, brethren, boldness to enter into the holiest by the blood of Jesus, by a new and living way, which He hath consecrated for us, through the veil, that is to say, His flesh; and having an High Priest over the house of God; *let us draw near* with a *true heart* in *full assurance of faith*, having our hearts sprinkled from an evil conscience, and our bodies washed with pure water." And "let us hold fast the profession of our faith without wavering; for He is faithful that promised."

"For *ye* are *not come* unto the mount that might be touched, and that burned with fire, nor unto blackness, and darkness, and tempest, and the sound of a trumpet, and the voice of words; which voice they that heard entreated that the word should not be spoken to them any more. . . . But ye *are come* unto Mount Zion, and unto the city of the living God, the heavenly Jerusalem, and to an innumerable company of angels, to the general assembly and church of the *first-born*, which are written in heaven, and to God the Judge of all, and to the spirits of just men made perfect, and *to Jesus* the Mediator of the new covenant, and *to the blood of sprinkling, that speaketh better things* than that of Abel."

O, then, "see that ye refuse not Him that speaketh. For if they escaped not who refused Him that spake on earth, much more shall not we escape, if we turn away from Him that speaketh from heaven." Hebrews 12:18-25

## Conclusion

CHRIST the Lord, the Son of God, came down from heaven and was made flesh, and dwelt among men as the Son of man. This is an eternal fixture in the Christian faith.

He died on the cross of Calvary for our offenses. This is an eternal fixture in the Christian faith.

He arose from the dead for our justification. This is an eternal fixture in the Christian faith.

He ascended to heaven as our Advocate, and as such sitteth on the right hand of the throne of God. This is an eternal fixture in the Christian faith.

He is a priest upon His Father's throne—a priest forever after the order of Melchisedec. This is an eternal fixture in the Christian faith.

At the right hand of God, upon the throne of God, as priest upon His throne, Christ is a "minister of the sanctuary, and of the true tabernacle, which the Lord pitched, and not man." This is an eternal fixture in the Christian faith.

And he will come again in the clouds of heaven, with power and great glory, to take His people unto Himself, to present to Himself His glorious church, and to judge the world. This is an eternal fixture in the Christian faith.

That Christ lived in the flesh, died on the cross, rose from the dead, ascended to heaven, and sits on the right hand of the throne of God in heaven, must be an eternal fixture in the faith of every Christian, in order for that faith to be true and full.

That this same Jesus is a priest at the right hand of God on that throne must be an eternal fixture in the faith of every Christian, in order for that faith to be true and full.

That Christ the Son of God, as priest at the right hand of God upon His throne, is there a "minister of the sanctuary, and of the true tabernacle, which the Lord pitched, and not man," must be an eternal fixture in the faith of every Christian, in order for that faith to be true and full.

And this true faith in Christ the Son of God *as that true priest*, in that true ministry, of that true sanctuary, at the right hand of the throne of the Majesty in the heavens; that His priesthood and ministry finishes transgression, and makes an end of sins, and makes reconciliation for iniquity, and brings in everlasting righteousness—this true faith will make *every comer thereunto perfect*. It will

prepare him for the seal of God, and for the final anointing of the Most Holy.

*By* this true faith, every soul who is *of* this true faith can certainly know that in him and in his life, transgression is finished and an end of sins made; that reconciliation is made for all the iniquity of his life; and that everlasting righteousness is brought in to reign in his life for evermore. This he can know with perfect certainty, for the Word of God says so, and true faith cometh by hearing the Word of God.

All who are of this true faith can know all this just as truly as they can know that Christ is at the right hand of the throne of God. They can know it just as truly as they can know that He is Priest upon that throne. They can know it just as truly as they can know that He is there a "minister of the sanctuary, and of the true tabernacle, which the Lord pitched, and not man." And all this can be known just as truly as any statement of the Word of God can be known; for the Word of God plainly states it all.

Therefore in this time, let every believer in Jesus rise up in the strength of this true faith, implicitly trusting the merit of our great High Priest in His holy ministry and intercession for us.

In the confidence of this true faith, let every believer in Jesus take a long breath of restfulness forever, in thankfulness to God that this thing is accomplished: that transgression is finished in your life, that you are done with the wicked thing forever: that an end of sins is made in your life, and that you are free from it forever: that reconciliation for iniquity is made, and that you are cleansed from it forever by the precious blood of sprinkling: and that everlasting righteousness is brought into your life to reign for evermore, to uphold you, to guide you, to save you, in the \_fullness of that eternal redemption which, through the blood of Christ, is brought to every believer in Jesus our great High Priest and true Intercessor.

And then in the righteousness, the peace, and the power of this true faith, let every soul who knows it spread abroad to all people and to the end of the world the glorious news of the priesthood of Christ, of the cleansing of the sanctuary, of the finishing of the mystery of God, of the times of refreshing come, and of the soon coming of the Lord "to be glorified in His saints, and to be admired in all them that believe . . . in that day," and to "present to Himself a glorious church, not having spot, or wrinkle, or any such thing," but "holy and without blemish." "Now of the things which we have spoken this is the sum: We have such an High Priest, who is set on the right hand of the throne of the Majesty in the heavens; a Minister of the sanctuary, and of the true tabernacle, which the Lord pitched, and not man."

"HAVING THEREFORE, BRETHREN, BOLDNESS TO ENTER INTO THE HOLIEST BY THE BLOOD OF JESUS, BY A NEW AND LIVING WAY, WHICH HE HATH CONSECRATED FOR US, THROUGH THE VEIL, THAT IS TO SAY, HIS FLESH; AND HAVING AN HIGH PRIEST OVER THE HOUSE OF GOD; LET US DRAW NEAR WITH A TRUE HEART IN FULL ASSURANCE OF FAITH, HAVING OUR HEARTS SPRINKLED FROM AN EVIL CONSCIENCE, AND OUR BODIES WASHED WITH PURE WATER." AND "LET US HOLD FAST THE PROFESSION OF OUR FAITH WITHOUT WAIVERING; FOR HE IS FAITHFUL THAT PROMISED."

~ ~